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Letter of Transmittal 

20th May, 2025

Minister for Finance

Accra

 

Hon. Dr. Cassiel Ato Forson 

 

Dear Minister,

 

In accordance with section 26 (1) and (2) of the Ghana Revenue Authority Act, 2009 (Act 791), I have 

the pleasure of presenting to you on behalf of the Governing Board, the Annual Report and 

Financial Statement of the Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA) for the year ended 31st   December, 

2024.

 

Yours faithfully,

 

……………………………..

Hon. George Ricketts Hagan

(Board Chairman)
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HON. GEORGE RICKETTS HAGAN (MP)

BOARD CHAIRMAN

Current 
Board Chairman's 
MESSAGE

The year 2024 was one of extraordinary global and 

domestic challenges, an era that tested the resilience 

of economies, governments, and institutions around 

the world. Persistent global inflation, supply chain 

disruptions, and geopolitical tensions continued to 

shape the international economic landscape

Navigating Challenges, Sustaining Growth

In Ghana, the election year brought with it 

familiar uncertainties, impacting business 

confidence and fiscal predictability. Yet, amid 

these challenges, the Ghana Revenue Authority 

(GRA) remained steadfast in its mission to 

mobilise revenue for national development, 

demonstrating adaptability, innovation, and 

resilience in the face of adversity.

Steadfast Leadership and Institutional 

Strength

The 5th Governing Board of the GRA, under the 

Chairmanship of Hon. Joe Ghartey was 

inaugurated on 22nd May 2024, and the Board 

served until 6th January 2025. As a newly 

constituted Board, the objective was clear to 

build on the strong foundation laid by the 

predecessors and to provide strategic direction 

that would strengthen the Authority's capacity 

to deliver on its mandate. Reflecting on the past 

tenure, I am deeply proud of the Board's 

achievements and unwavering commitment. 

Despite the short duration of the Board's 

stewardship, it made tangible progress in 

consolidating operational efficiency, enhancing 

staff welfare, and supporting Management in 

achieving record-breaking revenue results.

Exceptional Revenue Performance

Revenue mobilisation was a foremost priority 

during the year, especially given the historical 

challenges of meeting targets in election years. 

The revenue target for the 2024 fiscal year 

stood at GH¢145,998.47 million. Through 

enhanced compliance measures, digital 

initiatives, and coordinated management 

o v e r s i g h t ,  t h e  A u t h o r i t y  c o l l e c t e d 

GH¢153,568.06 million for the fiscal year 2024 

and exceeded the year's target by GH¢7,569.91 

million. This represents a positive deviation of 

5.2%, a tax-to-GDP ratio of 13.6%, and a 

nominal growth of 35.8% over the previous 

year's performance.

The outcome was driven by strategic initiatives 

such as the E-VAT project, strengthened audit 

and enforcement operations, improved 

taxpayer engagement, and intensified field 

m o n i t o r i n g  a l l  u n d e r s c o r i n g  G R A ' s 

commitment to operational excellence and 

innovation.

Engagement, Partnerships, and Staff 

Commitment

Throughout the year, the Board undertook 

working visits to GRA offices across the country.
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These visits provided invaluable opportunities 

to engage directly with staff, understand 

operational realities, and identify measures to 

address challenges in working conditions and 

logistics.

Beyond internal engagements, the Board also 

pr ior i t ised stakeholder relat ions as a 

c o r n e r s t o n e  o f  e ff e c t i v e  r e v e n u e 

administration. The Board paid courtesy visits 

to the Presiding Bishop of the Methodist 

Church of Ghana, the National Chief Imam, and 

the Ga Mantse a gesture that deepened 

community trust and reinforced the Authority's 

partnership with key national institutions and 

opinion leaders.

Advancing Institutional Development and 

Staff Welfare

The Board's commitment to institutional 

growth was evident in several key initiatives 

during the year. These included:

Regularisation of staff promotions and 

expansion of the health insurance scheme,

Near completion of the new GRA Head 

Office, symbolising progress toward a 

modern and unified work environment, and

Recruitment to strengthen human capital 

and enhance service delivery.

A Vision for Sustained Success

Our collective progress in 2024 demonstrates 

what is possible when leadership, teamwork, 

and commitment align with a shared purpose. 

The achievements in 2024 are a testament to 

the resilience and professionalism of GRA's 

Management and staff, who continued to 

deliver under challenging economic and 

operational conditions.

On behalf of the Board, I extend my profound 

appreciation to the Commissioner-General, 

Management, and all members of staff for their 

dedication and hard work. Your unwavering 

commitment has been instrumental in 

advancing Ghana's fiscal stabil ity and 

strengthening public confidence in the GRA.

As we look to the future, may we continue to 

bui ld on th is  momentum innovat ing, 

collaborating, and leading with integrity to 

make the Ghana Revenue Authority a model of 

excellence in tax administration, not only in 

Ghana but across the African continent.
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MR. ANTHONY KWASI SARPONG 

COMMISSIONER-GENERAL

Current 

REPORT
 Commissioner-General's 

The year 2024 was one of both challenge and 

achievement for the Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA). 

In the face of global economic headwinds, domestic 

fiscal constraints, and transitional adjustments, the 

Authority demonstrated exceptional resilience and 

institutional strength. Through disciplined execution, 

technological innovation, and enhanced stakeholder 

collaboration, the GRA recorded a commendable 

performance, achieving a nominal revenue growth of 

35.8% and surpassing its annual target by 5.2%.

This accomplishment underscores the 

continued commitment of our officers and 

staff and the growing culture of voluntary 

compliance among taxpayers. 

On behalf of Management, I wish to 

acknowledge and commend the leadership 

of the Governing Board, ably chaired by 

Hon. Joe Ghartey and Ms. Julie Essiam, the 

first female Commissioner-General of the 

GRA, for their exemplary stewardship 

during the period under review. Their 

leadership, vision, and dedication laid a 

solid foundation for the continued 

transformation of the Authority into a 

world-class revenue administration. 

During the year, the Authority mobilised a 

total tax revenue of GH¢153.6 billion, 

exceeding the target of GH¢146.0 billion by 

GH¢7.6 billion. This performance resulted in 

a Tax-to-GDP (including oil) ratio of 13.6%, 

driven by strong growth across both 

Domestic Tax 31.6% and Customs 47.0% 

Divisions. 

Tax 31.6% and Customs 47.0% Divisions. 

These achievements were made possible 

through st rengthened compl iance 

measures, improved taxpayer services, and 

the sustained digital isation of our 

processes and systems. 

A  number  o f  s t ra teg i c  in i t i a t i ves 

c o n t r i b u t e d  s i g n i fi c a n t l y  t o  t h i s 

performance. The Special Voluntary 

Disclosure Programme (SVDP) created an 

avenue for individuals and entities to 

voluntarily regularise their tax affairs, 

including the declaration of previously 

undisclosed income and assets, thereby 

deepening compliance. Similarly, the 

Authorised Economic Operator (AEO) 

certification scheme promoted trust and 

partnership with compliant businesses, 

facilitating trade and enhancing efficiency 

across customs operations. 

Furthermore, the Authority intensified 

stakeholder engagement, improved 

turnaround time for importers and 

exporters, and enhanced professionalism 

among staff.
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Internally, the GRA remained committed to 

improving the welfare, motivation, and 

development of its workforce. During the 

review period, 2,609 officers were promoted 

across various ranks, welfare packages were 

reviewed in line with the Collective Agreement, 

and the Executive Learning Programme (ELP) 

was rolled out to strengthen managerial 

capacity and leadership skills. These initiatives 

reflect the Authority's recognition that its 

people are its most valuable asset and the 

foundation for sustainable institutional 

performance. 

In keeping with the GRA's commitment to 

partnership and inclusiveness, extensive 

nationwide stakeholder engagements were 

conducted under the Tax and Good Governance 

Month campaign. Through digital awareness 

initiatives, University and Professional 

webinars, and market outreach programmes, 

the Authority intensified public education and 

engagement. These efforts contributed to an 

increase in online filing rates from 89 per cent in 

2023 to 92 per cent in 2024, signifying growing 

adoption of digital tax channels. 

The Authority also benefited from strong 

collaboration with the Ministry of Finance, to 

facilitate dialogue sessions with key private 

sector groups, including the Ghana Union of 

Traders Association (GUTA), Association of 

Ghana Industries (AGI), and various Chambers 

of Commerce. These engagements enhanced 

mutual understanding and contributed to 

resolving industry-specific challenges.

Beyond revenue mobilisation, the GRA 

continued to distinguish itself in other spheres. 

The GRA Royals Ladies Hockey Team brought 

honour to the Authority and to Ghana by 

winning the 2024 African Cup Championship in 

Blantyre, Malawi, and received awards for Fair 

Play and Highest Goal Scorer. The Authority 

also remained committed to its Corporate 

Social Responsibility (CSR) agenda, focusing on 

health, education, and community partnerships 

that fostered tax awareness and social impact. 

I extend sincere appreciation to our staff for 

their dedication, to our taxpayers for their 

compliance and partnership, to the World Bank, 

GIZ, and FCDO for their technical and financial 

support, and to all stakeholders and the media 

for their continued collaboration in advancing 

the national revenue agenda.

A Forward Look 

As I assume the role of Commissioner-General, I 

am both humbled by the legacy of achievement 

and inspired by the opportunity management 

and I have been granted by His Excellency 

President John Dramani Mahama to steer the 

next phase of the Authority's transformation. 

Guided by our renewed strategic focus, the GRA 

is committed to consolidating the gains 

achieved and building a modern, technology-

dr iven,  and human-centered revenue 

administration anchored on the vision of the 

President to reset our nation and the 

Authority's strategic aspirations.

The GRA of the future must be trusted, 

transformative, and technology-enabled - an 

institution that not only mobilises revenue but 

also drives national progress through 

innovation and integrity. With the unwavering 

support of our staff, stakeholders, and partners, 

I am confident that we will sustain the 

momentum of growth and position the Ghana 

Revenue Authority as a model of excellence in 

public administration. 

Together, we will deliver a world-class revenue 

administration that embodies the values of 

service, professionalism, and accountability in 

advancing Ghana's development.
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2024 Fiscal Year Overview

Facts & figures

Total Tax Revenue 2024 Tax Growth 2024 Tax -to- GDP Tax Buoyancy
in GH¢ million

153,568.06 +35.8% 13.6% 1.1

Audits conducted

1984
Audits success

78%
Debt Recovered (GH¢’M) Recovery Rate

3,522.79 24.7%
Post Clarence Audits 

344
Growth

+39.4%

Taxpayer Population.
Filling Rates

244,141
+5.6%

92.9% 81.9% 49.3% 73.8%
PAYE
+19.7%.

VAT
+5.8%.

CIT
+3.6%.

Excise
-4.7%

Staff Count 7,730

(+10.1%)
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ABOUT GHANA REVENUE AUTHORITY

1.1 Corporate Profile

The Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA) was established by the Ghana Revenue Authority Act, 2009 (Act 

791) as a semi-autonomous body charged with the responsibility of assessing, collecting and 

accounting for tax revenue in the country. The core mandate of the Authority is to ensure maximum 

compliance with all relevant laws for a sustained revenue stream for government, facilitate 

legitimate trade, and control the movement of goods across the country's borders for national 

safety and security.

1.1.1 Objects of the Authority

1. Provide a holistic approach to tax and customs administration

2. Reduce administrative and tax compliance cost and provide better service to taxpayers.

3. Promote efficient collection of revenue and the equitable distribution of tax burden and 

ensure greater transparency and integrity.

4. Ensure greater accountability to Government for the professional management of tax 

administration.

5. Improve information linkage and sharing of information among the Divisions of the 

Authority.

6. Provide a one-stop service for taxpayers for the submission of returns and payment of 

taxes.

7. Provide common tax procedures that enable taxpayers to be governed by a single set of 

rules.

8. Provide for other matters related to the improvement of revenue administration.

1.1.2 Functions

1. Assess and collect taxes, interest and penalties on taxes due to the Republic with optimum 

efficiency.

2. Pay the amounts collected into the Consolidated Fund unless otherwise provided by Act 791 

and other Acts.3. Promote tax compliance and tax education.

4. Combat tax fraud and evasion and cooperate with other competent law enforcement 

agencies and revenue agencies in other countries.

5. Advise District Assemblies on the assessment and collection of their revenue.

6. Prepare and publish reports and statistics related to its revenue collection.

7. Make recommendations to the Minister on revenue collection policy; and

8. Perform any other function in relation to revenue as directed by the Minister or assigned to it 

under any other enactment.



Fairness

Integrity

Responsiveness

Service

Teamwork

To provide consistent and standardised services

To be fair and honest at all times

To react quickly and professionally to customers' needs

To provide timely and accurate assistance to our taxpayers through their preferred channel

To work together to achieve our goals 
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1.3 Stakeholders 

GRA has several stakeholders with various levels of interest in the core business of the Authority and 

hence serve as partners in every area of our operations.  These stakeholders include but are not 

limited to the Government, Ministry of Finance, Bank of Ghana, Governing Board of GRA, 

MDAs/MMDAs, Taxpayers, International Development Agencies, ECOWAS Commission, GRA 

Employees, Ports and Maritime Operators, Trade and Professional Associations & Institutions, 

Academia, Civil Society Organisations (CSOs), Financial Institutions, Service Providers and the 

General Public. GRA is committed to collaborating with all stakeholders and strategic partners in 

the pursuit of its vision and any reforms that will enhance service delivery to all.  

1.4 GRA Service Charter

The GRA Service Charter specifies the services and standards our clients can expect from the 

Authority, as well as the procedure to follow if the agreed services are not rendered efficiently. The 

Service Charter is in line with broader Public Service Policy of providing quality services to members 

of the public. The Charter includes rights and obligations of taxpayers as well as responsibilities of 

staff

1.2 Vision, Mission and Core Values 

Our Vision
To be a world-class Revenue 
Administration recognised for 
professionalism, integrity and 
excellence.

Our Mission
To mobilise revenue for 

national development in a 

transparent, fair, effective, and 

efficient manner. 

Our Values
The Authority in the discharge 

of its mandate is  guided by the 

following core values: 
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1.5 Organisational Structure

Figure 1.1 Organisational Structure

Governing Board 

The governance of the Authority falls under the purview of the GRA Board, as delineated in the GRA 

Act, 2009 (Act 791). The Board ensures the proper and effective performance of the functions of the 

Authority and makes recommendations to the Minister on tax policy, reform, legislation, treaties, 

exemption and concessions.  The Board of the Authority consists of:

· Chairperson, 

· The Commissioner-General, 

· A representative of the Ministry of Finance not below the rank of a Director, 

· A representative of the Ministry of Trade and Industry not below the rank of a Director,

· The Governor of the Bank of Ghana or a representative of the Governor not below the rank 

of a Deputy-Governor and

· Four (4) other persons from the Private Sector, of whom two (2) are women.

Administrative Structure 

The Commissioner-General is responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Authority and is 

accountable to the Board for the performance of the Autourity. He is assisted by three 

Commissioners who oversee the Domestic Tax Revenue Division (DTRD), Customs Division (CD), 

and Support Services Division (SSD). 

This tripartite structure is designed to optimise the efficiency of the Authority's primary function, 

which is revenue mobilisation. The Customs and Domestic Tax Revenue Divisions are primarily 

focused on both revenue and non-revenue functions such as facilitating legitimate trade, ensuring 

public safety, and border protection. The Support Services Division, on the other hand, provides 

essential management services to support the operations of the other Divisions. The Office of the 

Commissioner-General also has Departments and Units that offer additional management support 

services.
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IMMEDIATE PAST BOARD MEMBERSHIP- MAY 2024 TO JANUARY 2025

1. HON. JOE GHARTEY – BOARD CHAIRMAN

2. MS. JULIE ESSIAM  - COMMISSIONER-GENERAL

3. DR. ALEX AMPAABENG

4. MRS. ELSIE ADDO AWADZI

5. HON. MICHEAL OKYERE BAAFI

6. MR. KWABENA ABANKWA YEBOAH

7. MS. ARABA BOSOMTWI

8. MR. KWAKU OWUSU AGYEMANG

9. MADAM SUSAN AKOMEAH

IMMEDIATE PAST TOP MANAGEMENT- MAY 2024 TO JANUARY 2025

1. MS. JULIE ESSIAM – COMMISSIONER-GENERAL

2. MR. EDWARD APENTENG GYAMERAH – COMMISSIONER DOMESTIC TAX REVENUE 

DIVISION (DTRD)

3. MADAM PEARL NANA AMA DARKO – COMMISSIONER SUPPORT SERVICES DIVISION 

(SSD)

4. BRIG. GEN. ZIBRIM BAWAH AYORROGO – COMMISSIONER CUSTOMS DIVISION (CD)

PAST BOARD MEMBERS – AUGUST 2021 TO APRIL 2025 

1. DR. OTENG GYASI – BOARD CHAIRMAN

2. REV. DR. AMMISHADDAI OWUSU-AMOAH – COMMISSIONER-GENERAL

3. MS. ADELAIDE AHWIRENG

4. DR. MAXWELL OPOKU-AFARI

5. MS. EVA MENDS

6. HON. NANA AMA DOKUA ASIAMAH-ADJEI

7. MRS. DELA OBENG-SAKYI

8. MR. KWABENA BOATEN

9. REV. PROF. PETER OHENE KYEI
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MEMBER
DR. ZAKARI MUMUNI

HON. ELIZABETH OFOSU-ADJARE

DR. PATRICK NOMO

HON. LAADI AYI AYAMBA

MEMBER

HON. FRANCIS-XAVIER SOSU

MADAM FAUSTINA NELSON 

MEMBER

MR. GEORGE AYIRETEY
MEMBER

GRA BOARD MEMBERS

MEMBERMEMBER

MEMBER

MR. ANTHONY KWASI SARPONG 

COMMISSIONER-GENERAL

HON. GEORGE RICKETTS HAGAN (MP)

BOARD CHAIRMAN. 



HR / Legal   

Finance        

Technical      

Audit & Risk 

Board Committee Heads

Hon. Laadi Ayi Ayamba

Mad. Faustina Nelson

Mr. Patrick Nomo

Hon.Francis-Xavier Sosu (MP)

Committee   Chairperson
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DEPUTY COMMISSIONERS & HEADS OF DEPARTMENTS 2024
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PORT OPREATIONS

WILSON OSCAR AYINI

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

POST CLEARANCE AUDIT

ROBERT KWAME GBADEGBE

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

LARGE TAXPAYER OFFICE

DANIEL EDISI
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

DTRD OPERATIONS I

KWESI EGHAN
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

DTRD OPERATIONS II

NATHAN NAKAI NETTEY

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

TAX AUDIT QUALITY ASSURANCE

KONEY MENSAH
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

ADMINISTRATION

FLORENCE ASANTE

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

COMMUNICATION AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS

MAXWELL ASANTE-BERKO

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

FINANCE

AMMA RANDOLPH

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

JUSTICE DELA NIPA

HEAD INTERNAL AUDIT

AUGUSTINE ADJEI SEFAH

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT
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DEPUTY COMMISSIONERS & HEADS OF DEPARTMENTS 2024

JOHN BISMARK KISSI

HEAD, MINING OPERATIONS

FECHIN YAO AKOTO

HEAD, SUSPENSE REGIME

AFRA AKUA MPIANI-BROBBEY

HEAD ETHICS AND GOOD  GOVERNANCE

PETER ANTOBRE OFORI
HEAD, PREVENTIVE

CEPHAS ODARTEY LAMPTEY
HEAD LAT & DMCE 

AUGUSTINE  SAMUEL OPOKU-BOADU
HEAD, DIGITAL INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

MESHACH NANA DANSO
HEAD, PETROLEUM
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2.1 Overview

The economy in 2024 navigated a critical juncture, balancing recovery from its 2022–2023 debt 

restructuring programme with persistent macroeconomic pressures. Despite achieving a 5.7 

percent GDP growth rate largely driven by strong performances in mining (+9.4%), construction 

(+9.6%), and ICT (+15.8%), the year was marked by elevated inflation (23.8%), currency volatility 

(19.2%-cedi depreciation against the USD), and climate-driven shocks to agriculture. Cocoa output 

fell by 22.4 percent.

For GRA, 2024 underscored the urgency of adaptive fiscal strategies. Public debt, though reduced 

to 61.8 percent of GDP, post-Eurobond restructuring remains vulnerable to energy sector liabilities 

(US$2.2 billion shortfall) and arrears accumulation (GH¢67.5 billion unpaid claims). Meanwhile, tax 

compliance gaps persist, with the informal sector and smuggling costing the state an estimated 

US$840 million in lost cocoa revenue alone.

This analysis examines the 2024 operating environment using a PESTEL framework, identifying risks 

and opportunities for GRA. 

2.2 Political Factors - Navigating Austerity and Election-Year Realities

The 2024 political environment introduced some strategic operational challenges for revenue 

mobilisation. Global partnerships offered counterbalancing opportunities. Ghana's hosting of the 

AfCFTA Secretariat drove a 14 percent increase in intra-African exports, particularly in 

pharmaceuticals and value-added cocoa, creating new taxable trade flows. Concurrently, the 

successful restructuring of US$13.1 billion in Eurobonds and a US$150 million grant from the Green 

Climate Fund grant signalled renewed investor confidence.

2.3 Economic Factors

The 2024 economic story is one of impressive resilience and dynamic contrasts. This section delves 

into five core factors that influenced tax collections, balancing successes with the deeper 

undercurrents that could determine the country's fiscal trajectory in the coming years.

2.3.1 Growth Sectors Fuel Revenue Over Performance

The 9.4 percent mining surge and 9.6 percent construction boom, driven by robust gold exports 

and infrastructure projects, propelled both Corporate Tax and VAT inflows. This industrial 

momentum helped GRA surpass its overall tax revenue target by GH¢7.57 billion (an 

overperformance of 5.2%). Domestically, revenue grew by 31.6 percent year-on-year as the ICT 

sector's 15.8 percent growth and financial services' 7.8 percent upswing broadened the tax 

base—particularly through digital transactions and mobile money proliferation.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
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Figure 2.1 Sectoral Growth Rates in Ghana – 2024

Source: GSS (2025)

This chart highlights which sectors (mining, construction, ICT, etc.) drove the 2024 revenue over 

performance.

Simultaneously, Customs revenue soared by 47 percent, an achievement made possible by 

GH¢85.1 billion in import values (CIF) - despite a 36.5 percent drop in import volumes. In effect, the 

19.2 percent depreciation of the Cedi against the dollar and 23.8 percent inflation rate increased the 

prices of imported goods, elevating taxable CIF values to 79.6 percent of total imports. This paradox 

reiterates the silver lining of a challenging macro environment: while it squeezed consumers and 

businesses, it also swelled nominal import values and, by extension, customs receipts. Figure 2.2 

highlights how currency depreciation and inflation boosted taxable CIF values, even as import 

volumes fell.

Figure 2.2 Customs Revenue and Import Dynamics – 2024

Source: GRA TARF and GSS (2024)
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2.3.2 Inflation & Informality Drag

In 2024, headline inflation ended the year at 23.8% year-on-year, compressing real incomes and 

forcing firms to re-price more frequently, while the cedi depreciated in the high-teens over the 

year, tightening working-capital conditions and raising the local-currency cost of imported 

inputs. These pressures, together with compliance and liquidity frictions, pushed activity toward 

the informal economy (about 85% of total employment – see figure below), where transactions 

are harder to tax and audit. Digital rails help, but only partially: about 68% of adults hold an 

account (including mobile-money), expanding payment footprints without fully translating into 

VAT/PIT/CIT registration or timely filing (GSS, 2024) 

The fiscal impact shows up through three channels: (i) VAT base erosion as cash based sales moves 

outside structured invoicing; (ii) PIT buoyancy dampened by youth joblessness and slow wage 

growth; and (iii) customs leakages where exchange-rate arbitrage and weak traceability in excisable 

goods undercut border yields. Policy countermeasures remain imperative; e-VAT/e-invoicing scale-

up, risk-based audits, and excise/cargo track-and-trace alongside continued disinflation and FX 

stability to pull firms back into formal payment chains (BOG, 2024)

Figure 2.3 Inflation & Informality Pressures

2.3.3 Energy & Fiscal Slippage

Beneath the energy sector's modest 2.0 percent growth lurks a fiscal minefield. Arrears and 

subsidies have fuelled a US$2.23 billion shortfall, diverting funds needed for E-VAT expansion and 

other critical reforms. While petroleum revenue outperformed by 8.4 percent, the maintenance 

shutdown at the Atuabo gas plant underscored structural fragility.

Although debt-to-GDP ratio improved to 61.8 percent post-Eurobond restructuring, GH¢67.5 

billion in energy arrears could undermine liquidity and hamper the long-term sustainability of 

newly introduced tax measures. Unless these liabilities are addressed, the GRA's capacity to enforce 

VAT compliance particularly in large corporate segments will remain compromised.

Percentage
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2.3.4 Regional Context: Competitive Position and Fiscal Risks

Ghana's economy outperformed oil-dependent Nigeria (2.9% growth) but trailed Côte d'Ivoire 

(6.5%), underscoring the role of diversification in resilience. However, the Cedi's sharper 

depreciation (19.2% vs. Naira's 18%) reflected persistent investor concerns despite reserve buffers. 

ECOWAS trade integration drove a 14 percent surge in intra-African exports, yet porous borders 

and rampant smuggling eroded customs revenue, diminishing gains from regional commerce.

This duality defined 2024's fiscal landscape: industrial strength and digital expansion lifted 

revenues above targets, while agricultural volatility, inflation, and informality siphoned potential 

gains and widened equity gaps.

2.4 Social Factors – Informality as a Revenue Constraint

Ghana's demographic profile (60 percent under 35) intersects with a labour market where 19 

percent youth unemployment perpetuates large-scale informality. This represents not merely a 

social challenge but a critical fiscal constraint: 72 percent of small businesses operate outside the 

formal tax net, creating systemic revenue leakage even in high-growth sectors like ICT (+15.8%). 

The proliferation of untraceable economic activity, particularly in digital commerce (82% occurring 

off monitored platforms) and gig work, directly undermines revenue mobilisation efficiency.

Urbanisation compounds formalisation barriers through spatial and identification gaps. Rural-

urban migration concentrates 34 percent of new residents in informal settlements lacking 

geocodable addresses or utilities creating fundamental obstacles to taxpayer registration. This 

spatial informality intersects with gender-based financial exclusion: 70 percent of informal traders 

are women and only 22 percent have access to formal credit systems. The resultant identification 

deficit impedes GRA's ability to convert growing urban commerce into taxable transactions.

Figure 2.4: Causal Pathway of Urban Informality

Source: Ghana Statistical Service (2024); GLSS 8 (2024)

Household coping strategies generate secondary revenue erosion through illicit channels. Soaring 

inflation (23.8%) and currency depreciation (19.2%) forced 28 percent of households into survival 

economies, notably informal mining (galamsey) and cross-border smuggling. These untaxed 

activities create measurable fiscal externalities: Illicit gold trading and cocoa smuggling alone divert 

an estimated US$840 million annually from state coffers while damaging the formal agricultural tax 

base.
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Figure 2.5: Macroeconomic Pressures 

Source: Bank of Ghana (2024)

2.5 Technological Factors

The adoption of digital tools in 2024 yielded asymmetric impacts across Ghana's revenue 

landscape. E-tax platforms streamlined compliance for registered urban businesses, reducing 

processing times by 40 percent according to GRA operational data. However, this efficiency gain 

exposed a critical rural-urban tech divide: unreliable internet coverage and power disruptions 

prevented 62 percent of rural MSMEs from utilising online filing systems, perpetuating manual 

processes in agricultural and border communities.

Mobile money penetration of 68 percent created new transaction monitoring opportunities, 

particularly through QR-code payments that grew 300 percent year-on-year in urban markets. Yet 

infrastructure gaps persisted, only 34 percent of district capitals had adequate agent networks for 

cashless transactions, leading to cash transactions in remote regions like Northern Ghana. This 

fragmentation limited the taxable footprint of the emerging digital economy.

Cybersecurity threats emerged as a material risk to digital trust. Phishing attacks targeting small 

businesses increased by 47 percent (BoG 2024), eroding confidence in e-payment systems. GRA's 

platforms experienced 12 service disruptions totalling 86 hours in Q3-2024, highlighting systemic 

vulnerabilities that discouraged formalisation among risk-averse enterprises.
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 2.6 Environmental Factors

Climate volatility emerged as a material economic disruptor in 2024. El Niño-induced droughts 

triggered a 22.4 percent decline in cocoa production, directly reducing export taxes and VAT 

revenues from cocoa-dependent small and medium enterprises. Concurrently, devastating floods 

between June and July in Greater Accra paralysed logistics networks, delaying import clearance by 

an average of 14 days according to GRA Customs data. These delays inflated compliance costs 

through demurrage fees and supply chain disruptions, demonstrating how environmental shocks 

translate into immediate revenue leakage and administrative friction.

Amid these challenges, Ghana's green transition presents countervailing fiscal opportunities. 

Renewable energy projects, particularly in solar and hydroelectric power, now constitute 32 percent 

of public infrastructure investments, creating new taxable assets and services. Simultaneously, 

carbon credit schemes generated US$28 million in certified trade revenues, a figure projected to 

triple by 2027 as mining and agro-industries adopt emissions tracking. These structural shifts 

position environmental accountability as an emerging revenue frontier rather than merely a 

compliance cost.

For the Authority, this landscape necessitates strategically designed climate-responsive levies. 

Implementing plastic taxes at a rate of GH¢0.50 per kilogram under Environmental Protection 

Agency guidelines could mobilise new revenue while addressing the 4.2 million tons of plastic 

waste generated annually. Complementary carbon-adjusted import duties would further align 

trade policy with national sustainability goals. Beyond taxation, operational modernisation remains 

critical: deploying satellite-connected mobile customs units would maintain clearance capabilities 

during climate disruptions, preventing the demurrage accumulations that cost importers GH¢17.8 

billion last year. 

Finally, introducing certified green tax incentives, such as 5 percent corporate rate reductions for 

firms verified under the Ghana Carbon Registry, would reward eco-innovation while expanding the 

formal tax base.

2.7 Legal Factors

The country's legal landscape is undergoing transformative shifts that balance regulatory rigour 

with compliance incentives, directly influencing revenue mobilisation. The Revenue Administration 

Act, 2016 (Act 915) and Electronic Transfer Levy Act, 2022 (Act 1075) established frameworks for 

digital revenue collection, driving a 34 percent surge in digital transaction revenues despite initial 

public resistance. However, persistent informal sector evasion, estimated at 60 percent of GDP, 

continues to challenge collection efficiency. GRA is countering this through e-commerce audits and 

fintech partnerships (e.g., MTN MoMo transaction tracking), while simplifying tax codes and 

offering SME incentives like reduced rates for digitised record-keeping.

Anti-corruption frameworks are strengthening enforcement capabilities. The Office of the Special 

Prosecutor (OSP), empowered by the Anti-Corruption Act, 2017 (Act 959), recovered $130 million 

from tax fraud in 2023 alone. Concurrently, amendments to the Companies Act, 2019 (Act 992) 

mandate stricter beneficial ownership disclosures, aligning with global Anti-Money Laundering 

standards. These tools enable targeted prosecution of tax evasion, particularly in extractive 

industries, enhancing investor confidence and public trust.
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Digital compliance obligations under the Data Protection Act, 2012 (Act 843) and Cyber Security 

Act, 2020 (Act 1038) impose stringent data security requirements, with non-compliance penalties 

up to 5 percent of annual revenue. While increasing operational costs for businesses, these laws 

position the GRA to pioneer AI-integrated real-time reporting platforms. Collaboration with the 

National Information Technology Agency (NITA) on compliance certification could streamline 

audits by 30 percent, reducing bureaucratic bottlenecks.

International trade integration through AfCFTA and Ghana-EU EPA ratification necessitates 

sophisticated VAT harmonisation. Though the Integrated Customs Management System (ICUMS) 

reduced clearance times by 40 percent, porous borders enable smuggling thus eroding revenue 

gains. Strategic ECOWAS partnerships for tariff standardisation and intelligence sharing, 

complemented by existing Double Taxation Agreements (DTAs), offer pathways to curb leakage.

Figure 2.6: Legal Architecture for Revenue Mobilisation and Enforcement

Source: Research (2024)

Figure 2.6 illustrates the interdependence of domestic tax legislation, international trade 

agreements, and digital compliance frameworks enabling GRA's enforcement capabilities.

For the GRA, this evolving legal environment creates actionable leverage: digitising enforcement 

via blockchain-enabled VAT tracking, aligning with global transparency standards, and incentivising 

compliance through ESG-linked tax rebates. By transforming regulatory challenges into tools for 

optimisation, the Authority can solidify its role as both revenue guardian and development catalyst.

Overall, the 2024 economic narrative is one of contrasts: robust GDP growth (5.7%) fuelled by 

mining and ICT breakthroughs, yet undercut by inflation (23.8%), currency instability, and climate-

driven agricultural collapse. The nation's recovery from debt restructuring, though commendable, 

remains fragile, tested by energy sector arrears, smuggling, and a tax gap that cost US$840 million 

in revenues. 
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th
3.1 GRA's 4  Strategic Plan 2023-2027  

th
The 4  Strategic Plan 2023-2027 builds on the achievements of the 3rd Strategic Plan 2020-2022, 

continuing efforts to advance the transformation agenda, enhance revenue mobilisation, and 

improve service delivery. This Plan, now in its third year of implementation, also aligns with the 

Medium-Term Revenue Strategy (MTRS) for 2024-2027. The main objective is to achieve a tax-to-

GDP ratio of 18-20% and attain at least a B score for all thirty-two indicators across the nine 

Performance Outcome Areas (POAs) outlined in the Tax Administration Diagnostic Assessment Tool 

(TADAT) by the end of the plan period.

3.1.1 Summary of the Strategic Plan Goals, Objectives, Initiatives and MTRS Measures & 

Strategies
th

The 4  Strategic Plan which is aligned to the MTRS of the government of Ghana has four broad 

strategic goals, 12 objectives, 30 initiatives and 98 measures and strategies. The breakdown is 

shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: Goals, Objectives, Initiatives, Measures and Strategies 

Goal 
Number of 

Objectives
Number of 

Initiatives

Number of Measures 

& Strategies

3

3

3

3

12

12

4

9

5

30

62

7

20

9

98

The strategy is in various stages of implementation at the end of 2024.

3.2 2024 Tax Policy Measures

The 2024 tax policy measures represent a legal framework designed to modernise revenue 

mobilisation, stimulate industrial growth, and align fiscal policy with global sustainability goals. 

Anchored in six key legislative Acts passed in late 2023 and became operational in 2024, these 

reforms blend enforcement rigour with social equity, targeting sectors critical to national 

development from local manufacturing and green energy to gender equity and climate resilience. 

By detailing the specific legal provisions underpinning each policy, this analysis illuminates how the 

government and GRA are transforming tax administration into a catalyst for inclusive and 

sustainable progress.

Goal 1: Maximise Revenue

Goal 2: Ensure Quality and Dynamic 

Customer Service Delivery

Goal 3: Strengthen Organisational 

Health and Employee Professional 

Development

Goal 4: Enhance ICT Culture

Total

STRATEGIC PLAN EVALUATION HIGHLIGHTS 
AND POLICY MEASURES
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Table 3.2: Tax Policy Measures 

Policy/Reform Legal Provision 

(Act & Section)
Details Rationale/Impact

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1107),
VAT Flat Rate (5%) on 

Commercial Rentals

Zero VAT on Locally 

Made Sanitary Towels

Applies to rentals of commercial premises 
(excluding residential). Estate developers 
pay 5% VAT but cannot claim input tax  
deductions   

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1107),

VAT Extension for Auto 

Assembly Ghana Automotive

Development Policy (GADP)

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1107),

VAT and associated levies (15% → 0%) for 

locally manufactured sanitary pads. 

Excludes imported products.

Promotes women's health, 
supports local manufacturing, 
and reduces import dependency.

Zero-rated VAT for locally assembled 

vehicles under GADP extended to 

31 Dec 2025.

Boosts automotive sector growth, 

aligns with industrial policy, and 

attracts Foreign Direct Investment 

(FDI).

VAT Extension for 

Local Textiles

Withholding VAT Agent 

Penalties

VAT Exemptions Revised

Excise Duty on Cider 

Beer (47.5%)

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1107),

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Value Added Tax (Amendment) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1107) First 

Schedule,

Excise Duty (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Act, 2023 (Act 1108)

Zero-rated VAT for approved local African 

print manufacturers extended to

 31 Dec 2025.

Protects cultural heritage, 
supports SMEs, and reduces 
smuggling of foreign textiles.

30% penalty for agents failing to remit 

VAT by the 15th of the following month

Strengthens compliance; deters 
tax evasion in high-value 
transactions.

Removed exemptions: Imported exercise 

books, domestic air travel, non-life 

insurance, postage stamps. 

Added exemption: Electric vehicles for 

public transport.

Cider beer excise duty raised from 20% 

to 47.5% (aligned with beer rates).

Closes loopholes; incentivizes 

green public transport 

infrastructure.

Level the playing field; curbs 
preferential treatment for cider 
producers.

Simplifies compliance for real 
estate sector; reduces 
administrative burden.  
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Table 3.2: Tax Policy Measures 

Policy/Reform Legal Provision 

(Act & Section)
Details Rationale/Impact

Excise Duty (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Act, 2023 (Act 1108)

Duty on plastics reduced to 5%, extended 

to cover all imported plastic packaging. 

Combats plastic waste, promotes 
sustainable packaging, reduces 
smuggling.

Exemptions (Amendment) Act, 

2023 (Act 1110)

Income Tax (Amendment) (No. 2) 

Act, 2023 (Act 1111), First 

Schedule

Waives duties on fishing gear imports for 

agriculture certified by Ministry of 

Agriculture.

Supports small-scale fisheries; 

enhances food security and rural 

economic livelihoods.

New bands: 0% (≤GH¢490/month) to 

35% (>GH¢50,000/month).

Balances equity; protects low-

income earners while ensuring 

progressive contributions.

Plastic Excise Duty 

Reduction (from 10% to 5%) 

Fishing Gear Exemptions

Progressive Income Tax 

Bands 

Emissions Levy (Gh¢100/
tonne Co₂)

Emissions Levy Act, 2023 

(Act 1112)

Sectors: Mining, construction, oil/gas, 

energy.

Vehicle fees:

- GH¢75 (motorcycles)

- GH¢150–300 (cars/trucks).

Drives ESG compliance; funds 

green transition and climate 

resilience.

Customs Waiver for Sanitary 

Pad Raw Materials

Customs (Amendment) Act, 2023 

(Act 1106)

Provision of a waiver of duty on the 

importation of raw materials for the local 

manufacture of sanitary towels.

Lowers production costs for 

local manufacturers; aligns 

with zero-VAT policy.
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The 2024 tax reforms exemplify legislative ingenuity. Act 1107 (VAT modernisation) and Act 1112 

(emissions pricing) embody a dual mandate: enforcing compliance while uplifting SMEs, 

supporting women, and promoting green industries. By zero-rating essentials such as sanitary 

pads, reducing plastic levies, and taxing high earners at 35 percent, Ghana deftly balances equity 

with accountability.

For GRA, these legal frameworks serve as a blueprint to formalise the informal sector, draw ESG-

focused investments, and bolster public trust. 

3.3 Revenue Strategies and Enhancement Measures adopted in 2024

Aside the legislative measures adopted, the Authority also deepened the implementation of 

strategies through intelligence gathering and risk management to reduce the level of tax evasion as 

well as tax avoidance by taxpayers. Accordingly, the Authority took various initiatives to:

· Track non-compliance in the area of filing and payment, e.g, Non-Issuance of VAT invoices;

· Strengthen debt management activities and continue the use of the Tax Clearance 

Certificate as an effective enforcement/compliance tool

· Enhance the capacity and connectivity of the taxpayer portal system to handle peak periods 

of filing and payment of taxes

· Vigorously expand the tax base by identifying new taxpayers with the aid of the National 

Identification Authority (NIA) database

· Expand the PAYE database to cover public sector organisations that are not under the 

Controller and Accountant General's Department (CAGD), e.g, Public Universities and 

Security Services

· Deepen revenue collection collaborations with MMDAs, mainly in the area of rent tax

· Expand, monitor and tax e-commerce businesses through the e-VAT system

· Widen the database of High Net-worth Individuals, monitor and shore up revenue from 

existing and potential individuals

· Strengthen the monitoring and auditing of the quarrying, sand and salt winning industry

· Enhance the capacity of the Transfer Pricing Unit with emphasis on risk areas

· Cross-validate taxpayer imports (leverage of third-party data within GRA; review of import 

declarations of taxpayers in the ICUMS & cross-validate with taxpayers' VAT, CIT returns

· Enforce the continuation of upfront VAT on imports of taxable goods by unregistered 

importers

· Decentralise the classification and valuation function at the Customs Technical Services 

Bureau (CTSB) into all major Customs Collections across the country and 

· Deploy Authorised Economic Operators (AEOs).



REVENUE PERFORMANCE

PAGE 14PAGE 1PAGE 30

2024 ANNUAL REPORT

 CHAPTER 04
 



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 31

4.1 Overview of Revenue Performance

The tax revenue target for the 2024 fiscal year, initially set at GH¢145,992.38 million in the Annual 

Budget Statement and Economic Policy, was adjusted to GH¢145,998.47 million after the Mid-Year 

Fiscal Policy Review. The upward revision of GH¢ 6.08 million (i.e., 0.004%) maintained the projected 

29.1 percent growth rate over the 2023 collection. The DTRD was expected to contribute 

GH¢104,670.32 million, forming 72 percent of the target, while Customs contributes 28 percent of 

the target by an amount of GH¢41,328.15 million. 

Total tax revenue collected for 2024 was GH¢153,568.06 million, outperforming the target by 

GH¢7,569.91 million (5.2%). This performance represents a nominal growth rate of 35.8 percent 

over the 2023 collection. Figure 4.1 further details the Divisional performance and total revenue 

collected compared to their respective targets.

Target Versus Actual Revenue

TARGET ACTUAL

Figure 4.1: 2024 Tax Revenue Performance 

As shown in Figure 4.1, Direct Taxes collected within the fiscal year amounted to GH¢73,230.88 

million against a target of GH¢59,986.60 million. This represents a positive deviation of 

GH¢13,244.29 million (22.1%).

Indirect Taxes generated revenue of GH¢35,070.25 million against a target of GH¢44,683.72 million, 

which represents a negative deviation of GH¢9,613.48 million (21.5%).

However, total Domestic Taxes amounted to GH¢108,301.13 million against a target of 

GH¢104,670.32 million, exceeding the target by GH¢3,630.81 million (3.5%).

Customs collections amounted to GH¢45,266.93 million against a target of GH¢41,328.15 million. 

The collection exceeded target by GH¢3,938.79 million (9.5%).  

Collection from DTRD was expected to grow by 27.2 percent over 2023, whereas Customs collection 

was to grow by 34.2 percent. However, as depicted in Figure 4.2, the expected growth rates were 

exceeded, with total tax revenue recording a growth rate of 35.8 percent against the expected 29.1 

percent.

REVENUE PERFORMANCE
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Expected Vs. Actual Revenue Growth

Figure 4.2: Actual vs expected growth rates 

Figure 4.3 below illustrates the revenue generated by the Divisions in 2024. DTRD was the major 

contributor, accounting for 70 percent of the total revenue and Customs generating the remaining 

30 percent.

Comparing this to the expected contribution, which projected DTRD to contribute 72 percent and 

Customs 28 percent of total revenue, DTRD's actual contribution was marginally below the 

expected while Customs exceeded its target. This indicates a shift in the proportional revenue 

contribution from what was initially anticipated for the year.

Figure 4.3: Actual and expected contribution to total tax revenue 

Actual vs expected contribution to Total Tax Revenue 

4.2 Tax Revenue Trends (2019 – 2024)

Total tax revenue increased significantly from GH¢43,907.12 million in 2019 to GH¢153,568.06 

million in 2024, representing an average annual growth rate of 32.2 percent. The highest growth 

rate of 49.3 percent was recorded in 2023, followed by 35.8 percent in 2024. The tax-to-GDP ratio, a 

key measure of revenue mobilisation efficiency, has remained relatively stable, ranging between 

12.0 percent in 2020 and 13.6 percent in 2024.
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          Table 4.1: Tax Revenue Trends 2019 - 2024

2019 2020  2021   2022  2023   2024

Total Tax Revenue 

(GH¢'M)

Nominal Non-Oil 

GDP (GH¢'M)

Tax Rev to Non-Oil 

GDP (%)

Tax Rev Growth 

Rate (%)

Tax Buoyancy

Nominal Non-Oil 

GDP Growth Rate 

(%)

43,907.12 45,402.61 57,433.38 75,706.34 113,066.43 153,568.06

335,209.58 378,147.92 440,613.44 581,396.92 850,473.05 1,128,205.13

13.1 12.0 13.0 13.0 13.3 13.6

16.5 3.4 26.5 31.8 49.3 35.8

14.95 12.81 16.5 32.0 46.3 32.7

1.1 0.3 1.6 1.0 1.1 1.1

4.3 Performance by Tax Types

The 2024 fiscal year saw total tax revenue collection reaching GH¢153,568.06 million, surpassing 

the target of GH¢145,998.47 million by GH¢7,569.59 million (5.2%). This strong performance was 

primarily driven by the robust performance in direct taxes and customs revenue despite shortfalls in 

indirect taxes. 

Table 4.2: Performance by Tax Types against Targets  

TAX TYPE ACTUAL TARGET DEV  DEV 

  GH¢'M GH¢'M GH¢'M  %  

DT (Direct)  73,230.88  59,986.60  13,244.29  22.1  

PAYE  22,196.42  21,113.60  1,082.82  5.1  

Self -Employed
 

1,432.90 
 

1,572.85 
 

(139.95)
 

(8.9)
 

Companies
 

39,192.27 
 

30,003.89 
 

9,188.38 
 

30.6 
 

Others
 

557.68 
 

0.05 
 

557.62 
 

1115240.0
 

Rent  101.45  0.01  101.44  1014400.0 

Mineral Royalty
 

4,898.70 
 

3,096.27 
 

1,802.44 
 

58.2 
 

Airport Tax
 

1,609.59 
 

1,349.52 
 

260.08 
 

19.3 
 

GSL/NFSL
 

2,379.67 
 

2,126.30 
 

253.37 
 

11.9 
 

Financial Sector 
Recovery Levy

 
862.20 

 
724.12 

 
138.09 

 
19.1 

 

DT (Indirect)

 

33,005.84 

 

42,549.43 

 

(9,543.59)

 

(22.4)

 

Domestic VAT

 

17,135.79 

 

22,650.71 

 

(5,514.92)

 

(24.3)

 

Domestic Excise

 

1,301.71 

 

2,474.83 

 

(1,173.13)

 

(47.4)

 

Domestic NHIL

 

4,582.87 

 

4,706.57 

 

(123.70)

 

(2.6)

 

     



Domestic GETFUND 4,582.87 4,705.32 (122.44) (2.6)

CST

 

823.17 

 

1,571.91 

 

(748.74)

 

(47.6)

 

COVID -19 Health 

Recovery Levy (Flat Rate)

 

178.73 

 

128.21 

 

50.52 

 

39.4 

 

COVID -19 Health 

Recovery Levy (Standard)

 

1,698.69 

 

2,097.72 

 

(399.03)

 

(19.0)

 

Special Petroleum Tax

 

2,702.01 

 

4,214.15 

 

(1,512.14)

 

(35.9)

 

Total Domestic Taxes

 

106,236.72 

 

102,536.03 

 

3,700.70 

 

3.6 

 

E -Transaction Levy

 

2,064.41 

 

2,134.29 

 

(69.89)

 

(3.3)

 

Grand Total Domestic 

Taxes

 

108,301.13 

 

104,670.32 

 

3,630.81 

 

3.5 

 

Customs

 

45,266.93 

 

41,328.15 

 

3,938.79 

 

9.5 

 

Import Duties & Levies

 

20,264.23 

 

18,913.01 

 

1,351.21 

 

7.1 

 

Import VAT

 

16,081.63 

 

12,827.90 

 

3,253.73 

 

25.4 

 

Import NHIL

 

2,527.23 

 

2,924.98 

 

(397.75)

 

(13.6)

 

Import GETFUND

 

2,527.17 

 

2,926.68 

 

(399.51)

 

(13.7)

 

Import COVID -19 
Health Recovery Levy

 

1,061.38 

 

1,146.69 

 

(85.31)

 

(7.4)

 

Sub -Total

 

42,461.64 

 

38,739.26 

 

3,722.38 

 

9.6 

 

Petroleum Excise & 
Levies

 

2,805.29 

 

2,588.88 

 

216.41 

 

8.4 

 

Total Tax Revenue

 

153,568.06 

 

145,998.47 

 

7,569.59 

 

5.2 

 

Energy Debt Recovery 
Levy

 

2,851.08 

 

3,632.37 

 

(781.29)

 

(21.5)

 

Energy Sector 
Recovery Levy

 

1,163.74 

 

858.71 

 

305.03 

 

35.5 

 

Sanitation & Pollution 
Levy

 

551.38 

 

566.31 

 

(14.92)

 

(2.64)

 

Grand Total 

 

158,134.26 

 

151,055.85 

 

7,078.41 

 

4.7 
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Table 4.3: Tax Types Growth 

Tax Type
 

YTD-2024
  

YTD 2023
 

Growth 
 

 
Act. 

Growth  
 

Exp. 
Growth 

 

  GH¢'M GH¢'M GH¢'M  %  % 

DT (Direct)  73,230.88  54,006.18  19,224.70  35.6  11.1  

PAYE  22,196.42  17,452.48  4,743.94  27.2  21.0  

Self -Employed  1,432.90  937.23  495.67  52.9  67.8  

Companies  39,192.27  29,257.86  9,934.41  34.0  2.5  

Others  557.68  303.76  253.92  83.6  (100.0) 



 

 

Rent

 

101.45 

 

65.77 

 

35.67 

 

54.2 

 

(100.0)

 
Mineral Royalty 

 

4,898.70 

 

2,771.68 

 

2,127.02 

 

76.7 

 

11.7 

 Airport Tax

 

1,609.59 

 

1,195.35 

 

414.24 

 

34.7 

 

12.9 

 GSL/NFSL

 

2,379.67 

 

1,376.68 

 

1,002.99 

 

72.9 

 

54.5 

 
Financial Sector 

Recovery Levy

 

862.20 

 

645.38 

 

216.83 

 

33.6 

 

12.2 

 DT (Indirect)

 

33,005.84 

 

27,071.77 

 

5,934.07 

 

21.9 

 

57.2 

 Domestic VAT

 

17,135.79 

 

14,516.17 

 

2,619.61 

 

18.0 

 

56.0 

 Excise

 

1,301.71 

 

900.65 

 

401.05 

 

44.5 

 

174.8 

 Domestic NHIL

 

4,582.87 

 

3,600.33 

 

982.54 

 

27.3 

 

30.7 

 Domestic GETFUND

 

4,582.87 

 

3,600.33 

 

982.54 

 

27.3 

 

30.7 

 CST

 

823.17 

 

663.84 

 

159.33 

 

24.0 

 

136.8 

 COVID -19 Health 

Recovery Levy (Flat Rate) 
178.73  59.89  118.84  198.4  114.1  

COVID -19 Health 

Recovery Levy 

(Standard)
 

1,698.69 

 

1,411.12 

 

287.57 

 

20.4 

 

48.7 

 Special Petroleum 

Tax
 

2,702.01 
 

2,319.43 
 

382.58 
 

16.5 
 

81.7 
 Sub -Total Domestic 

Taxes
 

106,236.72 

 

81,077.95 

 

25,158.78 

 

31.0 

 

26.5 

 
E-Transaction Levy

 
2,064.41 

 
1,194.50 

 
869.90 

 
72.8 

 
78.7 

 
Total Domestic Taxes

 
108,301.13 

 
82,272.45 

 
26,028.68 

 
31.6 

 
27.2 

 
Customs

 
45,266.93 

 
30,793.98 

 
14,472.95 

 
47.0 

 
34.2 

 
Import Duties

 
20,264.23 

 
13,943.67 

 
6,320.56 

 
45.3 

 
35.6 

 
Import VAT

 
16,081.63 

 
10,461.45 

 
5,620.19 

 
53.7 

 
22.6 

 

Import NHIL  2,527.23  1,661.44  865.79  52.1  76.1  

Import GETFUND  2,527.17  1,661.34  865.83  52.1  76.2  
Import COVID-19 

Health Recovery Levy
 

1,061.38 
 

706.46 
 

354.92 
 

50.2 
 

62.3 
 

Sub -Total 42,461.64  28,434.35  14,027.29  49.3  36.2  
Petroleum Excise & 
Levies  

2,805.29 
 

2,359.63 
 

445.66 
 

18.9 
 

9.7 
 

Total Tax Revenue  153,568.06  113,066.43  40,501.63  35.8  29.1  

Energy Debt 

Recovery Levy  2,851.08  2,435.24  415.84  17.1  49.2  

Energy Sector 

Recovery Levy  1,163.74  998.23  165.51  16.6  (14.0) 

Sanitation & Pollution 

Levy  551.38  470.88  80.51  17.1  20.3  

Grand Total  158,134.26  116,970.78  41,163.49  35.2  29.1  
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E-LEVY

GH¢ 2,064.41

1.9%

DOMESTIC VAT
GH¢ 17,135.79

15.8%

MINERAL ROYALTY

GH¢ 4,898.70

4.5%

PAYE

GH¢ 22,196.42

20.5%

SELF-EMPLOYED
GH¢ 1,432.90

1.3%

COMPANIES
GH¢ 39,192.27

36.2%

TOTAL
DOMESTIC TAX
GH¢ 108,301.13M

31.6% GROWTH

Figure 4.4 Performance by Tax Types 

Domestic Tax revenue recorded a year-to-date positive deviation of GH¢3,630.81 million (3.5%), 

representing a growth of 31.6 percent against the expected 27.2 percent due to performance of the 

following tax handles: 

Pay-As-You-Earn

Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE) collected for the year was GH¢ 22,196.42 million, representing a positive 

deviation of GH¢ 1,081.88 million (5.1%) and a growth of 27.2 percent against the expected 21.0 

percent. The performance of this tax type was a result of a significant increase in salaries, bonuses, 

and thirteenth-month salaries given to several employees within the fiscal year. This, coupled with 

enhanced compliance activities such as audit assessments, contributed to the achievement of this 

positive performance. 

Corporate Income Tax (CIT)

Corporate Income Tax (CIT) exceeded its annual target by GH¢9,188.20 million (30.6%). This 

represents a 34.0 percent growth over 2023 collections against an expected growth of 2.5 percent. 

The strong performance can be attributed to:  

Payment of Taxes not in Dispute

During the period of assessment, a number of taxpayers made payments for taxes not in 

dispute after submission of their annual returns.

Performance of the Major Mining Firms

In 2024, the contribution of the major mining companies increased by 81.7 percent or 

GH¢4,071.54 million compared to what they contributed in 2023.

High Inflow of withholding Payments

Enhanced enforcement activities in 2024 resulted in improved compliance among corporate 

bodies, leading to a good inflow of withholding payments.

Issuance of Treasury Credit Note

Within the year, a Treasury Credit Note receipt (TCN) of GH¢349.45 million was issued by CAGD 

in respect of taxes owed. · 



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 37

Self-Employed

This tax type fell short of its target by GH¢139.62 million (8.9%) but achieved a 52.9 percent growth 

instead of the expected 67.8 percent. The shortfall was due to the delayed implementation of the 

modified taxation scheme, which was projected to generate GH¢496 million. The low inflows of 

direct and withholding payments as a result of the delayed release of the District Assembly 

Common Fund, which affected tax payments from contractors also hampered the performance of 

the tax type.

Mineral Royalties

This tax type exceeded the annual target with a positive deviation of GH¢1,802.16 million (58.2%) 

and realised a growth of 76.7 percent against a projected growth of 11.7 percent. The resilient 

performance was driven by the increase in the price of gold. In comparison to 2023, the price of gold 

had increased on average by 34.9 percent, from an average price of US$1,895.20 in 2023 to 

US$2,556.54 in 2024. This increase made it mandatory for companies with stability agreements to 

pay the tax at a higher rate of 5 percent as against the 4 percent rate used in December 2023.

Value Added Tax (VAT)

This tax type fell short of its target by GH¢5,514.92 million (24.3%), achieving 18.0 percent growth 

instead of the projected 56.0 percent. Despite this, revenue increased partly due to a GH¢523 

million Tax Credit Note issued to clear VAT debt.

The shortfall was attributed to: 

Slow E-VAT Implementation: Delays in rolling out phase two of the system impacted 

collections.

Higher Deductible VAT Claims: Large taxpayers increased claims due to higher import 

values.

Decline in Sales: Some major companies experienced reduced product sales, resulting in 

lower VAT payments.

Increase in Withholding VAT Credits: Higher claims reduced direct VAT payments.

Excise 

The excise tax fell GH¢1,173.13 million (47.4%) short of its target by collecting GH¢1,301.71 million 

instead of GH¢2,474.83 million. This performance, however, represents 44.5 percent growth against 

the expected 174.8 percent. The shortfall was mainly due to delays in implementing Act 863, which 

would have expanded the excise taxpayer base. As a result, existing taxpayers could not meet the 

high growth target despite recording a 44.5 percent increase in collection.

Communications Service Tax (CST)

This tax type fell short of its target by GH¢748.74 million (47.6%), achieving 24.0 percent growth 

instead of the expected 136.8 percent. The shortfall was due to the partial implementation of Act 

864. The delay in enforcing CST on non-compliant radio, TV stations, and Internet Service Providers 

(ISPs) prevented the expected growth of GH¢908.07 million (136.8%).

E-Levy

This tax type recorded a negative deviation of GH¢69.89 million (3.3%) but a positive growth of 72.8 

percent. The performance of this tax type was due to a decrease in transactions and person-to-

person (P2P) transfers.
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COLLECTION

GH¢ 45,266.93 M

DEVIATION

GH¢ 3,938.79 M

9.5%

GROWTH

47.0%

Figure 4.5 Customs Revenue

In the 2024 fiscal year, Customs generated a total revenue of GH¢45,266.93 million against a target 

of GH¢41,328.15 million. This resulted in a positive deviation of GH¢3,938.79 million, thus 9.5 

percent above the target.  This performance was driven by the improved revenue from dry cargo 

(imports) and oil revenue (downstream petroleum). For the period under review, imports deviated 

positively from their target of GH¢38,739.26 million by GH¢3,722.38 million or 9.6 percent. 

Petroleum, on the other hand, was expected to rake in GH¢2,588.88 million, but generated a 

revenue of GH¢2,805.29 million, resulting in a positive deviation of GH¢216.41 million, representing 

8.4percent.

Table 4.4: Components of Customs Revenue 

   ACTUAL   TARGET    DEV   %DEV

GH¢'M    GH¢'M   GH¢'M

REVENUE HEAD

Total Import

Petroleum

Total 

  42,461.64   38,739.26   3,722.38 9.6

    2,805.29     2,588.88      216.41 8.4

 45,266.93  41,328.15  3,938.79  9.5

4.3.2 Customs Revenue 

2024 recorded significant growth in revenue from trade taxes compared to revenue generated in 

2023. 
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Figure 4.6: Customs Revenue (2021 - 2024)  

4.3.2.1 Analysis of Petroleum Taxes

Petroleum revenue is driven by volumes lifted under AGO, Super and LPG. All these volumes 

met their respective targets for the period under review resulting in 8.4 percent positive 

deviation. Also, petroleum volumes recorded for 2024 compared to the same period in 

2023 indicate positive growth in both revenue and volumes for all the products as depicted 

in Figure 4.7

Petroleum Revenue (Actual vs. Target)

According to Figure 4.6, Customs collection has more than doubled since 2022, indicating 

significant growth in revenue over the period.

Figure 4.7: Petroleum Revenue Performance  
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Petroleum Revenue (2023 vs 2024)

Figure 4.8: Petroleum Revenue (2023 vs 2024)

4.3.2.1 Analysis of Trade Taxes

Value of Imports (Cost, Insurance and Freight)

For the 2024 fiscal year, the expected value of imports based on Cost, Insurance, and Freight (CIF) 

was not achieved. The set target was a CIF value of GH¢88,656.79 million. However, actual CIF for the 

period amounted to GH¢85,124.04 million, resulting in a shortfall of GH¢3,532.75 million. This 

represents a negative deviation of 4.0 percent of the targeted value.

Table 4.5: CIF Performance 

Indicator     Amount (GH¢'M)    Percentage

Target CIF

Actual CIF

Deviation

Taxable CIF

Non-Taxable CIF 

(Computed)

88,656.79

85,124.04

(3,532.75)

67,745.86

17,378.18

(4.0)

79.58

20.42

A breakdown of the actual CIF value of GH¢85,124.04 million shows that GH¢67,745.86 million, 

representing 79.6 percent, was classified as taxable imports. The remaining GH¢17,378.18 million, 

accounting for 20.4 percent of the total import value, comprised non-taxable CIF. This includes 

exempt and zero-rated imports, and significantly influenced overall import revenue performance 

for the year under review.
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The gap between targeted and actual CIF performance, along with the share of non-taxable 

imports, highlights the need for closer monitoring of import trends and more effective policy 

measures to enhance import tax yields in subsequent years. 

Analysis of Taxable CIF

An increase in taxable CIF (i.e. the summation of import values at 5%, 10%, 20% and 35%) from 77.3 

percent in 2023 to 79.6 percent in 2024, along with a reduction in exempt imports from 15.5 percent 

to 12.6 percent over the same period contributed to trade tax revenue. 

Imports under the 5 percent tariff have increased steadily, constituting 46.8 percent of total imports 

while imports registered under the 10 percent tariff band have seen a slight increase over the period 

from 2022 to 2024, both of which contributed to the exceptional revenue performance.

2022                                  2023                                   2024

GH¢ M  % OF 
TOTAL

GH¢ M  % OF 
TOTAL

GH¢ M  % OF 
TOTAL

0%

EXEMPT

5%

10%

20%

35%

TOTAL

EDR

6,366.11

13,834.37

39,441.73

10,813.95

16,062.31

2,609.24 

89,127.71

7.1

15.5

44.3

12.1

18.0

2.9 

8.1

Analysis of Goods Admissible at 5% Imported Rate

Goods admitted at 5 percent import duty constituted 46.8 percent of total imports for 2024. This 

value translated to an actual CIF value of GH¢ 39,851.92 million.

Out of this CIF value, 72 percent represented general goods classified at a 5 percent import duty by 

tariff, 23 percent were preferential rates to support the manufacturing sector, and 5 percent were 

concessionary rates to support the mining sector (see Figure 4.9). 

7.8 

12.6
 

46.8

 

12.5

 

17.4

 

2.9

 

  

8.1

 

6,664.05 

10,714.14
 

39,851.92

 

10,636.63

 

14,799.33

 

2457.97

 

85,124.04

 
 

5.9 

24.4
 

39.1

 

11.5

 

16.5

 

2.7

 

  

7.3

 

4,339.37 

17,919.71
 

28,676.32

 

8,443.22

 

12,095.82

 

1,962.11 

 

73,436.56

 

  

Table 4.6 Analysis of imports (2022-2024)
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Goods Admissible at 5% Imported Rate

Figure 4.9: Goods Admissible at 5% Imported Rate

Impact of Exemptions on Revenue

The implementation of the Exemptions Act which streamlined the exemptions process led to a 

decline in the revenue forgone from GH¢3,545.55 million in 2023 to GH¢2,445.70 million in 2024. 

Further details are provided in Table 4.7.

23%

72%

5%
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REGIME/ AUTHORITY

GNPC (OMC OIL Imports)

Government, Privileged 

Persons & Organizations

Ghana Investment 

Promotion Centre  (GIPC)

General Exemption per 

Tariff 

ECOWAS Exemption on
 Import

Parliamentary 
Exemptions

GEPA - EU

GADP

AfCFTA

TOTAL

CIF VALUE REVENUE CIF VALUE REVENUE CIF VALUE REVENUE

GH¢M EXEMPT GH¢M EXEMPT GH¢M EXEMPT

2022 2023 2024

595.09

783.41

1.18

35.92

401.76

1,710.87

0.02

14.85

2.22

3,545.32

Table 4.7: Breakdown of CIF Values and Revenue Exemptions by Import (2022-2024

1,455.08  

1,550.57
 

1,397.84

 
5,600.83

 1,172.15

 
6,676.34

 
2.10

 
48.86

 
6.90

 17,910.67

 

364.12 

455.15 

88.27

 

797.40

 266.06

 
1,491.47

 
0.09

 
7.43

 0.11

 3,470.10
 

2,000.59  

2,204.62  

22.87

 

163.60

 1,579.29

 
7,683.30

 
0.32

 
116.27

 63.50

 13,834.36
 

1,188.17  

1,972.93
 

-

 
1,221.90

 1,190.02

 
4,609.05

 
149.02

 
230.02

 
153.82

 10,714.93
 

 

296.64 

567.79
 

-

 
244.40

 260.34

 
991.89

 
40.52

 
36.74

 
7.38

 2,445.70
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5.1 Registration of Taxpayers 

During the year, a total of 12,887 new taxpayers were identified and registered across various tax 

categories, bringing the overall taxpayer count to 244,141. Table 5.1 gives further details on the 

categories of taxpayers registered.

ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE

Table 5.1: Active Taxpayer Population as at 2024

PAYE (Employers)

Corporate

Self-Employed 

VAT/NHIL

Domestic Excise

Total

TAX TYPE 2023
Newly 
Registered  

2024 Total Growth (%)

49,299 2,887 52,186 

 

54,151 2,862
 

57,013
 

5.9 

68,600
 

4,963

 

73,563

 

7.2

 

59,204

 

2,175

 

61,379

 

3.7

 

182

 

20

 

202

 

10.9

 

231,254

 

12,887

 

244,141

 

5.6

 

5.3

PAYE (Employers)

Corporate

Self-Employed 

VAT

Domestic Excise

TAX TYPE 

5.2 Filing and Payment Rate 

The tax filing data for 2024 highlights varying levels of compliance across different tax types. Out of 

the total number of registered taxpayers, actual filings varied significantly by tax type, with PAYE and 

VAT showing strong performance with filing rates of 92.9 percent and 81.9 percent, respectively, 

while Corporate and Self-Employed categories recorded relatively low filing rates of less than 50 

percent. Similar trends exist for their tax payments as well. Tables 5.2a and 5.2b break down the 

details.

Table 5.2a: Filing Rate by Tax Type 

File Count 
  

Actual Filed
 

Rate (%)
 

52,186 48,481 92.9 

57,013
 

28,107 49.3 

73,563
 

33,398
 

45.4
 

61,379

 

50,269
 

81.9
 

202

 

149

 

73.8
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PAYE 

Corporate

Self-Employed 

VAT

Domestic Excise

TAX TYPE File Count 
   

Rate (%)
 

52,186 

57,013 

73,563
 

61,379

 

202

 

Table 5.2b: Payment Rate by Tax Type 

42,339 

27,018 

28,381
 

52,393

 

157

 

81.1 

47.4 

38.6 

85.4

 

77.7

 

Actual Paid

5.3 Audits 

At the start of the year, 363 audits were in progress. During the period, 2,181 new audits were 

initiated, bringing the total to 2,544. By the end of the period, 1,984 audits had been completed, 

leaving 560 cases still outstanding, representing a 78 percent success rate. The total audit yield from 

direct taxes amounted to GH¢1,294.74 million, while indirect taxes generated GH¢991.51 million.

5.4 Compliance and Enforcement Actions

The major compliance and enforcement tools that were used by most of the TSCs and Area Offices 

included the issuance of notices of tax due, demand notices, seal offs, debt collection, and 

garnishment to elicit full payment of tax liabilities from taxpayers. Another strategy employed by 

the TSCs was the strengthening of the Taxpayer Relationship Officers' concept to  assist taxpayers in 

the fulfilment of their tax obligations.  The summary of enforcement activities recorded is shown in 

Table 5.3. 

Table 5.3: Compliance and Enforcement Actions

 

Number 
Amount 

Recoverable

 

 

 

 
Recovery Rate 

(%)
 

 

2,150 

884 

24
 

145
 

13

 

562

 

Enforcement 

Tool

Demand Notice

Garnishment

Seal Off

Debt Collection

Swoops

 

Others

(GH¢ M)

Amount 
Recoverable

 

 

(GH¢ M)

172.47 

1,112.10 

13.72
 

13.75

 

1.13

 

141.57

 

49.94 

61.65
 

2.73
 

13.17

 

1.13

 

45.01

 

29 

6
 

20

 

96

 

100

 

31.79

 

5.5 Debt Stock Analysis 

The total debt stock for 2024 stood at GH¢14,282.95 million.  A total amount of GH¢3,522.79 million 

was recovered, representing a debt recovery rate of 24.7 percent as against 39.5 percent in 2023.  

Total tax outstanding at the end of 31st December 2024 stood at GH¢10,760.16 million as 

compared to GH¢5,363.07 million recorded on 31st December 2023. Seventy percent of the 

outstanding debt is owed by governmental institutions.



Table 5.4 gives further details of the overall debt.
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Table 5.4: Debt Stock 

  
Amount (GH¢)

Opening Balance as at 1st January 2024 5,364,070,272.37

 Adjustments (826,533,085.37)

 
Adjusted opening balance 

 
4,537,537,187.00

 

Debt created for 2024

 

9,745,414,642.44

Total Debt for 2024

 

14,282,951,829.45 

Debt Recovered 

 

3,522,789,022.37 

Outstanding Balance 

 

10,760,162,807.08
 

Details

5.6 Rent Tax Operations 

By the end of the year, 12,210 properties were inspected, exceeding the target of 10,100 by 2,110 

properties. This performance was largely driven by the continuous usage of the Rent Tax 

Application (RTA) and a proactive approach to broadening the tax net and improving compliance.

5.7 E-Commerce

In 2024, significant progress was made in revenue mobilisation as a result of taxpayer identification 

and compliance efforts on e-commerce activities. During this period, 272 new taxpayers were 

registered, comprising 150 non-residents (55%) and 122 residents (45%). Total revenue of 

GH¢1,130,08 million was collected, with resident e-commerce providers contributing GH¢780.70 

million and non-resident providers contributing GH¢349.37 million. This exceeded the set target by 

GH¢396.06 million (53.96%).

5.8 Free Zone Project/Office

As at the end of 2024, significant efforts were made to enhance tax compliance and monitoring of 

Free Zones Operators. A total of 43 Free Zones operators were monitored, leading to the recovery 

of GH¢ 61.18 million in withholding tax on dividends. Additionally, six audits were completed, 

resulting in a total collectible assessment of GH¢7.3 million.

To strengthen oversight, a Monitoring Field Visit Checklist was developed to ensure a structured 

approach to compliance checks. Furthermore, a comprehensive set of free zone risk variables was 

developed to create a risk engine for profiling cases for monitoring and auditing Free Zone 

Enterprises (FZEs) and Developers (DZs). These initiatives were supported by the establishment of a 

dedicated database of FZEs and DZs, enhancing data-driven decision-making and compliance 

enforcement.
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5.9 International Tax Administration

In 2024, the GRA made significant strides in modernising international tax administration. Key 

achievements included the establishment of the International Tax Unit (ITU) and the development 

of policies, Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), and administrative manuals. Compliance efforts 

included publishing practice notes, updating the list of active DTAs, and launching a voluntary 

disclosure programme. Treaty negotiations progressed with engagements on DTAs with Hungary, 

Saudi Arabia, Israel, and South Korea, and finalizing five pending DTAs. 

5.10 Legal Affairs 

The Authority undertook several key initiatives to enhance legal operations. In this direction, the 

Authority successfully subscribed to the Dennis Law Legal Research Database and established a 

GRA Legal Repository for storing contracts, agreements, and bonds, though the digital 

infrastructure was deferred to 2025. A module in ICUMS was deployed for processing bonds and 

bank guarantees. Additionally, officers received training in legal writing and legislative drafting, and 

efforts were made to increase prosecutions, resulting in 23 tax offender convictions and four 

custodial sentences. The Authority also provided litigation support to the Attorney-General's Office 

in high-profile constitutional and international arbitration cases including Afrifa, Richard Amuhene, 

Export Finance v AG and AG Cases, GCNET v GoG Case, and Tullow v GoG Case.

5.11 Tax Audit & Quality Assurance Activities

For the 2024 fiscal year, GRA successfully integrated third-party data from agencies such as 

KelniGVG, ECG, DVLA, and SSNIT resulting in direct VAT assessments of GH¢155.08 million. A 

Business Intelligence (BI) dashboard for high-net-worth individuals was developed and deployed. 

The Authority also launched a Revenue Monitoring Dashboard and implemented a risk engine for 

objective audit selection which drove auditing through the audit management solution. During the 

year, 19 special post-clearance reviews and investigations were completed which resulted in 

GH¢104.59 million in short collection.

5.12 Risk Management and Compliance in the Organisation

The development of an Enterprise-Wide Risk Register, a critical document designed to drive risk 

management within the organisation, has been initiated and is set for completion in 2025. This 

register will serve as a foundational tool for identifying, assessing, and mitigating risks across 

various operational areas.

Additionally, the Compliance Improvement Plan (CIP), a key mechanism for evaluating domestic 

taxpayers' compliance levels, has reached a significant milestone. Together, these two initiatives will 

elevate the organisation's risk awareness framework.

5.13 Post Clearance Audit

A total of 344 General Post–Clearance Audits, including on–site and desk reviews, were conducted 

on various Importers and Regimes, including home consumption, Bonded Warehouses, Free Zones, 

Exemptions, and Concessions.The total short collection (principal amount) assessed was 

GH¢556.95 million for the 2024 year, representing an increase of 130.38 percent over that of 2023. 

The total revenue assessed was GH¢923.08 million for the year under review, which represents an 

increase of 39.38 percent over that of 2023. 
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The difference in percentage increase was a result of the imposition of penalties on Customs audit 

findings in 2023. A penalty rate of 300 percent was imposed in previous years, but was consequently 

not recovered due to the tax amnesty regime in force in those years.

5.14 FINANCE OPERATION(S)

To ensure commitment to financial discipline, transparency, and operational efficiency throughout 

the 2024 financial year, the GRA Accounting Manual, a comprehensive guide that enhances the 

consistency and accuracy of accounting practices across the organisation was drafted. This manual 

serves as an essential tool for improving financial processes and ensuring compliance with 

regulatory standards.  Also, the Authority effectively safeguarded and managed inventory, 

reducing loss and damage while improving efficiency and accountability in store operations.
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In 2024, GRA continued its digital transformation by enhancing cybersecurity measures and 

ensuring business continuity. The Authority successfully implemented new technologies, 

addressed key challenges, and aligned digital information and technology efforts with 

organisational goals. Significant achievements include improvements in cybersecurity defences 

and network connectivity.

6.1 Cybersecurity Project

The Cybersecurity implementation project aimed to enhance the overall security of GRA by 

implementing a comprehensive cybersecurity framework. The project encompasses network 

security, endpoint protection, access controls, and employee training.

Expected impact:

   Reduction in cost related to cyberattacks, which could affect business continuity.

   Improved ability to detect/prevent Information Security breaches by 50 percent.

   Ensure compliance with existing regulatory frameworks, e.g., Data Protection Act, Cyber 

Security Act, etc.

6.1.1 Security Operations Centre 

The Security Operations Centre (SOC) was completed and operationalised. The SOC monitors 

network traffic, endpoints, and critical systems, with a dedicated team using Security Information 

and Event Management (SIEM) tools to identify and address threats in real-time.

6.1.2 Network Operations Centre

The Network Operations Centre (NOC) was fully integrated with the SOC, ensuring that network 

performance is monitored alongside cybersecurity events. This enhanced the ability to detect and 

respond to network-level threats.

6.1.3 Vulnerability and Patch Management

As part of efforts to enhance cybersecurity, a comprehensive system was developed to assess and 

patch vulnerabilities within the IT environment regularly. This initiative has been fully implemented, 

with automated tools deployed to conduct routine system scans for potential security weaknesses. 

As a result, the number of exploitable vulnerabilities has been significantly reduced, lowering the 

risk of successful attacks caused by unpatched software.

6.1.4 Forensic Laboratory

To strengthen cybersecurity incident response and investigations, a dedicated forensic laboratory 

was established. It is fully equipped with industry-standard tools for data extraction, analysis, and 

forensic investigations. This has significantly enhanced the ability to trace the source and impact of 

cybersecurity incidents, resulting in a more effective response strategy and improved overall 

security posture.

6.1.5 InfoSec Unit Setup

To strengthen cybersecurity oversight, an Information Security (InfoSec) team has been established 
ndto enforce security policies and good practices. Full operational capability is expected by the 2  

quarter of 2025. 

DIGITAL INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY
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6.1.6 ISO 27001, 20000, 22301 Certification

Efforts are underway to achieve ISO 27001, 20000 and 22301 certifications, aimed at formalising 

and standardising the Authority's Information Security Management System (ISMS). The required 

documentation has been completed and approved for implementation. Full certification is 

expected to align GRA with international security standards and enhance risk management 

processes.

6.1.7 Data Loss Prevention Configuration

To safeguard sensitive data from unauthorised access and leaks, Data Loss Prevention (DLP) 

solutions are being implemented. The initial configuration is underway, with a focus on securing 

endpoints and monitoring email traffic for potential data leaks. Full deployment will enable real-

time alerts and automatic blocking of unauthorised data transmissions outside the Authority.

6.2 Upgrade of IT Service Desk

The upgrade of the IT Service Desk which involved the mounting and configuration of the contact 

centre platform for inbound and outbound calls, as well as Interactive Voice Response (IVR) flows 

has been completed.  
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Human resource development remained central to the Authority's performance in 2024, with 

headcount up 10.1 percent to 7,730. Beyond numbers, this chapter highlights promotions, well-

being performance, and specialised training programmes, building future-ready capabilities. 

Together, these efforts enhanced resilience and entrenched a performance-driven culture.  

7.1 Staffing

The staff strength increased from 7,019 in 2023 to 7,730 in 2024, representing a 10.1 percent rise. 

The DTRD had the largest workforce with 2,731 (35%), followed by the Customs Division with 2,619 

(34%). The SSD and the Office of the Commissioner-General together accounted for 2,381 (31%). 

In terms of rank, Management represents 13 percent, Senior Staff 57 percent, and Junior Staff 30 

percent, underscoring a structure that favours technical depth at the middle tiers. These 

proportions align with the Authority's goal of embedding experienced officers in front-line and 

supervisory roles as shown in Figure 7.1. 

Table 7.1: Staff Distribution by Division and Ranks

HUMAN RESOURCE

 

 

Management

Senior

Junior

Figure 7.1: Staff Rank Distribution

Senior
57%

Management

13%Junior
30%

TAX TYPE 

Customs

Domestic Tax Revenue

Office of Commissioner 

General
Support Services

TOTAL

Management Senior Staff Junior Staff Total

206

554

129

118

1,007

1,396

2045

275

690

4,406

1,017

132

13

1,155

2,317

2,619

2,731

417

1,963

7,730



7.1.1 Staffing Trend(s): 2020-2024

The staffing trend in the past five years (2020 - 2024) showed that the Authority had the highest 

number of staff in 2024, with the lowest being in 2023. This is shown in Figure 7.2.
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7.1.2 Staff Distribution by Gender

The total staff strength of 7,730 was made up of 5,084 (65.8%) males and 2,646 (34.2%) females 

as depicted in Figure 7.3. The proportion of female-to-male increased from 32 percent in 2023 

to 34 percent in 2024 reflecting ongoing gender diversity across the Authority.

Figure 7.2 Staff Trend

 Male

Female

Male
66%

Female
34%

Figure 7.3 Gender Distribution



7.2 Promotions

Two (2) promotion exercises were conducted during the year to clear the backlog of 3,297 eligible 

officers. In the first batch, 1,652 officers were promoted, with 5.3 percent advancing to 

Management positions, 54.1 percent and 40.7 percent to various Senior and Junior grades, 

respectively. The second batch saw the promotion of 957 officers, with 9.5 percent moving to 

Management, 59.1 percent to various Senior grades and 31.4 percent within the Junior grades. In 

all, 2,609 officers were promoted in the year based on the availability of vacancies. These 

promotions aimed to enhance career progression and strengthen the organisational structure. 

7.3 Staff Attrition

In 2024, 425 staff exited the Authority representing 5.5 percent of the total workforce, with 

retirement accounting for 68.5 percent of exits (291 officers). This managed turnover reflects 

natural workforce transitions, while zero dismissal signals stable employee relations. Resignations 

(44) and deaths (41) constituted moderate attrition drivers, alongside limited terminations (4) and 

leave of absence (14). The full breakdown in Table 7.2 underscores retirement-driven attrition as a 

focal point for succession planning.
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Table 7.2: Staff Attrition

%

68.5

10.4

9.6

7.3

3.3

0.9

0

100.0

Retirement

Resignation

Death

Vacation of Post

Leave of Absence

Termination of Appointment

Dismissal

Total

Category Count

291

44

41

31

14

4

0

425

7.4 Employee Well-being 

In line with Management's commitment to promoting a supportive and resilient workforce, several 

initiatives were implemented in 2024 to safeguard the physical, mental and financial well-being of 

staff. These include:

Health Screening: A comprehensive health screening exercise was organised at the various 

offices in the Greater Accra region, including Kasoa. In all, 2,450 officers were screened.

Breast Cancer Awareness & Screening: A nationwide Breast Cancer Awareness and 

Screening Programme was organised at 16 venues in all the regions. Both male and female 

officers were educated and screened. 
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Employee Assistance Programme (EAP): Management received six (6) applications under 

the EAP initiative and provided appropriate assistance to all eligible applicants.

Counselling Services: The Authority provided primary counselling services to 21 officers who 

approached the HR with various psychosocial challenges. Some cases were escalated to the 

appropriate health service providers for redress.

Full-Risk Health Insurance: All employees and their dependents were migrated from the 

Third-Party Agreement (TPA) to full-risk health insurance. 

Financial Assistance: The Authority provided financial assistance to five officers under the 

group Life Health Insurance.  

Medical Evacuation: Management facilitated the evacuation of four officers to tertiary health 

facilities to access appropriate and quality healthcare. 

7.5 Implementation of the Scheme of Service

Throughout 2024, Management proactively advanced the implementation of the GRA Scheme of 

Service (SoS) through expanded organisational sensitisation. This included conducting a Train-the-

Trainer program to establish internal change champions who could effectively cascade SoS 

principles across all tiers. Concurrently, Management systematically documented departmental 

feedback regarding operational line consolidation concerns to inform future refinements of the 

framework.

7.6 Staff Appraisal

The Smart Office 360-Performance Management System has been deployed to ensure easy 

accessibility and fair assessment. 5,109 Officers successfully completed their appraisals across 

multiple ranks. 

7.7 Training and Development

Below are brief highlights of Training activities coordinated and facilitated by the Authority for 2024. 

The highlights include:

7.7.1 Customer Service and Ethical Behaviour Training

In 2024, a key focus of training initiatives was Customer Service and Ethical Behaviour. This flagship 

programme aimed to reshape staff attitudes towards customer interactions, fostering a more 

service-oriented mindset. The training was driven by the belief that improving taxpayers' customer 

experience with tax officers will enhance compliance and positively impact revenue mobilisation. A 

total of 420 operational officers from Customs and DTRD in the Greater Accra Region participated in 

the training. 

7.7.2 Executive Learning Programme

This programme aimed to strengthen organisational capacity by fostering executive leadership 

development, enabling leaders and emerging leaders to unlock their full potential, adapt swiftly to 

the evolving landscape of Taxation and Customs administration, and cultivate a powerful leadership 

mindset to guide the GRA effectively.

Delivered remotely by the Stellenbosch Business School, South Africa, the programme covers a 

broad spectrum of leadership and management topics. 
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A total of 21 officers, comprising five Middle Management staff and 16 high-potential or emerging 

leaders, were nominated by their Divisional Heads to participate. They enrolled in the Management 

Development Programme and the New Managers Development Programme, respectively with 

participants successfully receiving their certificates

7.7.3 DTRD Training

The 2024 DTRD training placed significant emphasis on the Professional Course in Taxation (PCT), 

designed to provide operational staff with a strong foundation in taxation. The programme 

spanned six months, with 295 officers successfully completing the course.

In addition to the PCT, it was essential to educate staff on updates to tax laws resulting from new 

economic and fiscal policies introduced by the government. A train-the-trainer sensitisation 

workshop was organised, equipping 271 officers nationwide with knowledge of these changes in 

the tax laws.

7.7.4 Customs Training

Six hundred and ninety-nine (699) Customs officers participated in the Customs Technical Training 

organised in 2024. A great deal of attention was focused on the Officer Cadet Course, which was 

meant to train and instil in the newly employed Customs officers the discipline and orientation 

required of security officers.  Two hundred and five (205) officers participated in the training, which 

started in July 2024 and is scheduled to be completed in February 2025.

 

Other training areas for Customs Officers included ICUMS, Customs Regimes and Procedures Code, 

Radiological & Nuclear Detection Awareness, and International Airport Duties. 

7.7.5 International Taxation Training

The Authority conducted training sessions on international taxation, treaty benefits, exchange of 

information and 380 auditors were trained in DTAs. 

7.7.6 Cybersecurity Training 

A general awareness training on Cybersecurity and Data Protection essentials was held for officers 

across the various divisions of the Authority. The training, which included practical case studies, 

quizzes, and interactive sessions, was delivered in person in batches across multiple regions, 

engaging over 6,000 officers, National Service Personnel, Contract and Auxiliary staff. 
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8.1 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The GRA's Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) initiatives continue to foster strong stakeholder 

relationships and create lasting positive impact while reinforcing its reputation as a socially 

responsible institution.

Highlights of 2024 CSR activities:

1. Humanitarian Assistance: GRA extended support to disaster-affected communities by 

donating essential supplies, including food, clothing, and medical aid, helping over 1,000 

families rebuild their lives in Ngyiresia premix fuel explosion.

2. Cultural Support: The Authority is dedicated to building and nurturing strong ties within 

the communities it operates, by supporting events and festivals that celebrate Ghana's rich 

traditions and heritage. These include;

· Homowo Festival – support to the Ga Traditional Council through the Ga Mantse, 

King Tackie Teiko Tsuru 

· Agotime Kpetoe Kente Festival – assistance to the Agotime Kpetoe Traditional 

Council 

· Muslim Community – contributions to Eid celebrations in collaboration with the 

National Chief Imam, Shiekh Nuhu Sharubutu 

3. Health Support: GRA provided financial support to the Ghana Heart Foundation to assist 

underprivileged patients requiring heart surgery as part of our commitment to public 

health. The Authority organised several health screening exercises to promote wellness and 

early detection of illnesses at Agbogbloshie, Tema Community 1 and Kaneshie markets.

4. Water and Sanitation: In partnership with both public and private organisations, GRA 

invested in infrastructure projects, such as boreholes aimed at improving access to clean 

water in the Ga East Municipality. 

GRA Supports Ghana Heart Foundation GRA Supports Agotime Kente Festival

COMMUNICATION AND SOCIAL ACTION 
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8.2 TAXPAYER ENGAGEMENTS AND SATISFACTION

In 2024, GRA conducted 68 targeted Taxpayer Education Programme, tax dialogues, and 
th

stakeholder engagements, reaching over 7,000 participants. These initiatives aligned with GRA's 4  

Strategic Plan which prioritises enhancing taxpayer compliance and fostering public trust.

The 90-day Strategic Plan by Top Management marked a significant shift from an enforcement-

based approach to one focused on collaboration and customer-centricity. It was designed in 

response to feedback from the business community concerning perceived instances of harassment, 

aimed at improving relations and communication between GRA and its stakeholders.

In April, the Authority organised the Tax and Good Governance Month, with a focus on encouraging 

tax return filing through media discussions (ie radio, television and social media). As part of the 

activities within the month, tax clinics were set up in selected market centres nationwide to sensitise 

the public on their civic duties and tax obligations.

GRA, also collaborated with the Ministry of Finance to organize several high-level tax dialogues, 

chaired by the Deputy Minister - Hon. Dr. Alex Ampaabeng.  These forums brought together 

representatives of business associations, professional bodies, and importer groups to discuss key 

issues and promote transparency and accountability in tax administration.

Additionally, July was declared a national Tax Education Month, targeting local business owners, 

faith-based organisations, and traditional leaders. The campaign aimed to improve tax literacy and 

encourage voluntary compliance, with educational sessions covering topics such as:

· Taxpayer rights and obligations

· VAT refunds and exemptions

· Electronic VAT invoicing (e-VAT)

· Customs procedures and documentation

These engagements continue to play a critical role in building a tax-compliant culture and ensuring 

that GRA's operations are responsive, inclusive, and people-centered

8.3 CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

8.3.1 Customer Complaint Handling

The Contact Centre remained a pivotal touchpoint for addressing customer concerns and inquiries, 

demonstrating our commitment to exceptional service delivery. Over the reporting period, the 

Centre successfully managed 17,187 customer cases, ensuring swift and effective resolutions. 

Notably, an impressive 99.54 percent resolution rate was achieved, reflecting our dedication to 

enhancing customer experience, responsiveness, and operational efficiency.

8.3.2 Enhanced Customer Feedback Mechanisms

To further strengthen our customer engagement efforts, a Customer Satisfaction Survey was 

conducted by Deloitte, with the support of the Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office 

(FCDO). The survey provided valuable insights into customer perceptions of our services, resulting 

in an overall satisfaction score of 65 percent.
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Key areas identified for improvement included professional ethics, responsiveness, and timely 

dissemination of critical information. These findings have informed our strategic initiatives aimed at 

refining service delivery and reinforcing customer trust.

8.3.3 Revision of the GRA Customer Service Charter

As part of our continuous improvement agenda, a revision of the GRA Customer Service Charter 

was developed to better align with evolving customer expectations and service excellence 

standards. This revised charter is currently undergoing stakeholder consultations to ensure 

alignment with GRA's brand guidelines and regulatory frameworks before finalisation and 

implementation. The updated Charter will serve as a guiding framework for reinforcing service 

accountability, transparency, and customer-centricity across all touchpoints.

8.4 DIGITAL AND SOCIAL MEDIA ENGAGEMENT

In 2024, GRA maximised digital and social media platforms to enhance taxpayer engagement and 

transparency. Active on Facebook, X (formerly Twitter), Instagram, LinkedIn, and YouTube, GRA 

provided real-time updates, responded to inquiries, and simplified tax processes through 

multimedia content. Strategic campaigns and live Q&A sessions expanded reach, strengthened 

stakeholder engagement, and reinforced GRA's commitment to digital transformation in revenue 

administration.

 

Table 8.1: Social Media Performance Metrics
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Achieving the 2024 revenue target by 5.7 percent despite pronounced structural and operational 

headwinds reflects GRA's institutional resilience. This chapter discusses the most pressing barriers 

to fair and efficient revenue mobilisation, from protracted tax litigation and OECD compliance 

complexities to digital infrastructure limitations and data integrity challenges. At the same time, it 

sets out an ambitious 2025 agenda: targeting GH¢189,184.38 million in revenue collection through 

bold policy reforms, enhanced trade facilitation, and organisational transformation. This dual focus 

positions GRA to convert constraints into catalysts for systemic improvement.
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9.2 Outlook for 2025

9.2.1 Tax Revenue Projections 

The projected total tax revenue for 2025 is GH¢189,184.38 million, which represents a 23.2 percent 

nominal growth over the 2024 collection. Notably, there is a sharp decline in the projection for the 

revenue from the electronic transfer levy (E-Levy). This is due to the repeal of the law that mandates 

the collection of the E-Levy for the 2025 fiscal year. Table 9.1 gives a further breakdown of the 

projections for the year. 

9.1 Key Challenges   

The following highlights key challenges:  

 Implementation hurdles for Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 

(OECD) aligned frameworks, including Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS), Double 

Taxation Agreements, and Exchange of Information.

 Sophisticated tax planning and avoidance by Multinational Enterprises (MNEs), 

International Oil Companies (IOCs), and domestic businesses through transfer pricing and 

underreporting.

 Delayed operationalisation of the Independent Tax Appeals Board (ITAB), pending 

finalisation of the regulatory framework.

 Prolonged revenue recovery due to lengthy court processes and high volumes of tax 

litigation.

 Gaps in technical capacity in emerging areas such as extractive sector, telecommunications 

and manufacturing.

 Non-implementation of World Customs Organisation (WCO) SAFE Framework of standard 

(Pillar 2) Customs to Customs co-operation. 

 Delay in the implementation of Self-Clearance Module. 

CHALLENGES & OUTLOOK 
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TAX TYPE
2024

ACTUAL

2025

TARGET
EXPECTED 
GROWTH

EXPECTED 
GROWTH

DT (Direct)

DT (Indirect)

Sub-Total Domestic Taxes

E-Transfer Levy 

Total Domestic Taxes

Customs

Total Tax Revenue

Energy Debt Recovery Levy

Energy Sector Recovery Levy

Sanitation & Pollution Levy

Grand Total 

Table 9.1: Tax Revenue Projections for 2025

GH¢'M GH¢'M GH¢'M  % 

73,230.88  

33,005.84  

106,236.72  

2,064.41  

108,301.13 
 

 

153,568.06 
 

2,851.08 
 

1,163.74 

 
551.38 

 
158,134.26 

 

45,266.93

89,414.28  

42,723.66  

132,137.93  

517.70  

132,655.63  

56,528.74 
 

189,184.38 
 

3,132.44 
 

1,172.88  

586.44 
 

194,076.14 
 

16,183.39  

9,717.82  

25,901.21  

(1,546.71) 

24,354.51  

11,261.81 
 

35,616.32 
 

281.37 

 

9.14 
 

35.06 
 

35,941.88 
 

22.1  

29.4  

24.4  

(74.9) 

22.5  

24.9  

23.2 
 

9.9 
 

0.8  

6.4  

22.7  

9.2.2 2025 Tax Revenue Policies

To achieve the above tax projections for the 2025 fiscal year, several tax policy measures are going 

to be adopted. These include:

1.  Abolishment of the following taxes:

 10% withholding tax on winnings from the lottery (Betting Tax).

 Electronic Transfer Levy (E-Levy) of 1%.

 Emission Levy on industries and vehicles.

 VAT on a motor vehicle insurance policy.

 1.5% withholding tax on the winning of unprocessed gold by small-scale miners.

2.  2025 minimum wage to be zero-rated.

3.  Strengthen the implementation of the following existing revenue measures: 

a) The Modified Taxation System: 

Roll out digitised systems to capture details of eligible taxpayers, submission of 

returns and a dedicated USSD code for payment of taxes. This will be supported by 

tax education and taxpayer assistance programmes.

b) The Voluntary Disclosure Programme (VDP): 

Extension of the waiver of penalty and interest under the VDP to cover persons with 

foreign undeclared accounts, persons with accumulated arrears and persons with 

outstanding returns.

c) Elimination of VAT exemption on Non-Life Insurance, excluding motor policy.
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4. Consolidation of the Energy Debt Recovery Levy, Energy Sector Recovery Levy and Sanitation & 

Pollution Levy into one levy.

5. Reduction of Tax Refund from 6% to 4% of Total Revenue.

6. Increment of the Growth & Sustainability Levy from 1% on the gross production of mining 

companies to 3% and extend the sunset clause to 2028.

7. Extension of the sunset clause of the Special Import Levy to 2028.

8. Embark on aggressive and sustained tax education campaigns to improve compliance rates for 

SMEs and tax revenue mobilisation of personal income tax.

9. Institution of quarterly dialogue on tax issues among GRA, MoF and the business community to 

ensure prompt redress of issues affecting businesses. 

10. VAT reform parameters to include the following:

a)  Abolishment of the COVID-19 Levy.

b)  Reversal of the decoupling of GETFund and NHIL from the VAT.

c)  Reduction of the effective VAT rate for households and businesses.

d)  Reversal of the VAT flat rate regime.

e) Upward adjustment of the VAT registration threshold to exempt micro and small 

businesses from the collection of VAT.

f)  Improvement of compliance through public education and awareness. 

9.2.3 Priority Areas

For the 2025 fiscal year, the Authority plans to execute its mandate by embarking on the following 
th

initiatives as contained in the 4  Strategic Plan (2023-2027).

 To enhance domestic tax mobilisation, the following initiatives will be embarked upon: 

Domestic Tax

 Implement a simplified mechanism for a Modified Taxation Scheme for small taxpayers.

 Develop a mechanism for increased income taxation of Cross-Border digital services.

 Expand the Communications Service Tax (CST) coverage

 Implement Minimum Chargeable Income Rule for companies across all the proposed 

sectors. 

 Intensify segmented taxpayer education and engagement strategy: Undertake public 

sensitisation campaigns on Tax Laws.

Customs 

To facilitate legitimate trade and improve revenues from Customs, the following initiatives will 

be undertaken for 2025. 

 Intensify special audits, specifically at the CTSB for completely knockdown (CKD) and 

frozen items.

 Assess transit consignment and add markup values to ensure that Insurance Companies 

pay the full duty and taxes on diverted transit cargo.

 Implement Green Customs: Build capacity and strengthen implementation of Multi-

lateral Environmental Agreement s (MEA).
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       Institute a Tax Amnesty on the penalty imposed on uncustomed vehicles.

 Institutionalize the sharing of information/ intelligence amongst CTSB, PCA, Intelligence 

Unit, and sector commanders at the Collections.

 Strengthen the collaboration with other sister security institutions through joint 

operations.

 Establish and operationalise the Marine Unit.

 Improve classification and valuation infrastructure and processes.

 Operationalise the recommendations of the Time Release Study.  

Institutional Strengthening Initiatives

Several initiatives will be undertaken to strengthen organisational health and improve staff 

development and productivity.  These include:

 Roll out an Executive Learning Programme for leadership.

 Deploy an internal cashless payment system.

 Automate Stores' requisition process.

 Leverage cost-effective communication channels.

 Enhance Information Management.

 Produce GRA Documentary to support transparency and public education.

 Automate and modernise Process and Infrastructure.

 Automate the Human Resource System to accommodate self-service for staff data 

updates.

 Implement succession management.

 Gender main-streaming.
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1.1.0   General Statement

These general-purpose financial statements cover operations of Ghana Revenue Authority, as an 

economic reporting entity in the Public Sector of Ghana. General purpose financial statements are 

financial statements intended to meet the needs of a wide range of users (investors, Donor Partners, 

Financial Institutions, Parliament of Ghana etc) who are not in a position to demand reports tailored 

to meet their particular information needs.

1.2.0   Public Sector Reporting Mandate and Scope

These financial statements have been prepared on Entity basis taking cognizance of the 

Appropriation Act, pursuant to Article 179 (2) (a) of the 1992 Constitution of the Republic of Ghana 

and budget as approved by Parliament. The financial statements include consolidated data of all 

public funds (Consolidated fund, Statutory Funds, Internally Generated Fund and Donor Funds) 
stutilized in the Ghana Revenue Authority for The Year Ended 31  December 2024

1.3.0  Basis of Preparation and Authorization for Issue 

1.3.1  Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis in accordance with the  International 

Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). In preparing the financial statements, the Ghana 

Revenue Authority takes cognizance of the 1992 Constitution of the Republic of Ghana,   the Public 

Financial Management Act, 2016 (Act 921), and the Public Financial Management Regulations, 2019 

(LI 2378) and the Ghana Revenue Authority Act 2009, Act 791. These financial statements have been 

prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied consistently in 

the preparation and presentation of the financial statements. The financial statements present fairly 

the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the Ghana Revenue Authority and consist of the 

following:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GHANA REVENUE 
STAUTHORITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31  DECEMBER 2024

(a)  Statement of Financial Position,

(b)  Statement of Financial Performance,

(c)  Statement of Cash Flows,

(d)  Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity,

(e)  Statement of Receipts and Payments,

(f)  Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts,

(g) Notes to the financial statements comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes,

(h) Comparative information in respect of amounts presented in the financial statements 

indicated in (a) to (f) above and, where relevant, comparative information for narrative and 

descriptive information are also presented in the notes.

(I)  Included in the financial statements are other special reports that the Ghana Revenue 

Authority finds appropriate to better serve the interest of users as listed below:

       Statement of Donor Funds

       Schedule of Internally Generated Funds
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1.3.2 IPSAS Compliance Status

2023 Financial Statements complied with 18) out of the 36 applicable International Public Sector 

Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and 1recommended practice guidelines complied with out of 3 

Recommended Practice Guidelines (RPGs) as presented in the table below.

 

No IPSAS
 

CODE
 

IPSAS NAME

  STATUS
 

(COMPLIED/ NOT
  

COMPLIED/ NOT
  

APPLICABLE)
 

IPSAS 1

IPSAS 2

IPSAS 3

IPSAS 4

IPSAS 5

IPSAS 9

IPSAS 10

IPSAS 11

IPSAS 12

IPSAS 13

IPSAS 14

IPSAS 16

IPSAS 17

IPSAS 18

IPSAS 19

IPSAS 20

IPSAS 21

IPSAS 22

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 

ESTIMATES AND ERRORS 

THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
RATES

BORROWING COSTS

REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

FINANCIAL REPORTING IN HYPER INFLATIONARY 

ECONOMIES

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

INVENTORIES

LEASES

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

SEGMENT REPORTING

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CASH-GENERATING ASSETS

DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT 
THE GENERAL GOVERNMENT SECTOR

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

IPSAS 34

IPSAS 35

IPSAS 36

IPSAS 37

IPSAS 38

IPSAS 39

IPSAS 40

IPSAS 41

IPSAS 42

RPG 1

RPG 2

RPG 3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

NOT APPLICABLE

NOT APPLICABLE

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

COMPLIED

NOT APPLICABLE

COMPLIED15

16

17

18

COMPLIED

NOT APPLICABLE
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1.3.3 Going concern 

The going-concern assertion is based on the fact that, Ghana Revenue Authority is established 

under Ghana Revenue Authority Act 2009, (Act 791) of the Republic of Ghana, and her net assets 

position, stable historical trend of revenue collection gives no indication that the Revenue Authority 

will cease its operations.

1.3.4 Authorization for issue

These financial statements are certified by the Commissioner General of the Ghana Revenue 

Authority, in compliance with the Public Financial Management Act, 2016 (Act 921) and the Public 

Financial Management Regulations, 2019 (L.I. 2378).

In compliance with Section 80 (1) of the Public Financial Management Act, 2016 and Regulation 214 

of the Public Financial Management Regulations, 2019 L.I 2378, the Commissioner General is 

mandated to, within two months after the end of each financial year, prepare and submit to the 

Auditor-General and Controller and Accountant-General, financial statements of the Ghana 

Revenue Authority.

1.3.5 Measurement Basis 

The financial statements are prepared using the historical-cost convention and financial assets are 

recorded at fair values.

1.3.6 Functional and Presentation Currency 

The functional and presentation currency of the Republic of Ghana is the Ghana Cedi (GH¢). The 

financial statements are expressed in Ghana Cedi unless otherwise stated.

1.3.6.1   Except in the case where a contract specifies the applicable rate, transactions in currencies 

other than the functional currency are translated into Ghana Cedi as follows:

For revenue, at Bank of Ghana buying rates of exchange at the date of the transaction.

For expenditure, at Bank of Ghana selling rates of exchange at the date of the transaction.

1.3.6.2 At the end of the reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities not denominated in the 

functional currency are translated at the prevailing Bank of Ghana mid-rate of exchange, except in 

the case where a contract specifies the applicable rate.

1.3.6.3 Non-monetary items denominated in currencies other than the functional currency 

measured at fair value are translated at the prevailing Bank of Ghana mid-rate of exchange at the 

date on which the fair value was determined.

1.3.6.4 Non-financial items measured at historical cost in a non-functional currencies are 

translated at the Bank of Ghana mid-rate prevailing at the date of measurement.

1.3.6.5 Significant foreign operations of Government in other jurisdictions with different 

functional currencies are translated into the presentation currency and foreign exchange gains and 

losses on such translations are reported on net basis through the Statement of Changes in Net 

Assets/Equity under foreign currency reserve.
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1.3.6.6    Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 

transactions are recognised in the statement of financial performance on a net basis.

1.3.6.7    Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at period-end exchange rates are recognised on net 

basis through the Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity.

1.4.0    Revenue 

1.4.1       Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions 

Revenues from Non-Exchange Transactions, such as direct and indirect taxes are recognised when 

earned. Non-Exchange Transaction is a transaction in which the reporting entity   receives   

something   of   value   without   directly   giving   value in exchange.

1.4.1.1  Non-tax revenues of a non-exchange nature are revenues legally enforceable by 

legislative instruments paid directly to the reporting entity; such as fees, fines, license and royalties.

1.4.1.2 Grant revenues are inflows of economic benefits received in either cash or kind from 

entities or individuals other than those within the reporting entity for which no service or good is 

given in exchange by the reporting entity. Condition and Restriction for the use of Grant and 

other Inflows:

a. Ghana Revenue Authority initially recognises grant and   other inflows as liability 

(unearned revenue) with the associated asset (cash), when there are conditions 

precedent to the use of the specific inflows, in which case the inflows are refundable to 

the grantor, if the Authority is unable to fulfil the conditions.

Upon fulfilment of the conditions, the qualifying amount is subsequently recognised as 

revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance, where the initially recognised 

liability is reduced up to the tune of the qualifying amount.

b. when restrictions apply to the Authority  in the use of grant or other inflows, the 

amount is recognised as revenue with the associated asset (cash), including appropriate 

disclosures.

Trust Moneys – Money received in trust are recognised as liability and additional 

disclosure provided on the related asset (under Cash and Cash Equivalent).

c.  The amounts of any unutilised portion of asset (cash) resulting from grant and other 

inflows which are subject to qualifying conditions or restrictions, are disclosed in the 

Notes to the accounts (under Cash and Cash Equivalent), stating the name of the 

accounts, the amount and nature of the restrictions.

1.4.1.3      Retention Revenue. The Authority receives retention of not more than 3% of net revenue 

collected in accordance with section 21(2) of Ghana Revenue Authority Act 2009 (Act 791). This 

revenue, in accordance with Section 21(3) of the same act, shall be applied for the payment of 

salaries, allowances, operational and administrative expenses and other expenses of the Revenue 

Authority. 
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Ghana Revenue Authority recognises retention revenues when retention releases are issued and 

there is probable commitment towards release of funding from the government/grantor.

1.4.2    Revenue from Exchange Transactions 

Exchange transactions are those in which the entities sell goods or services in exchange for a 

consideration. Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for the sale 

of goods or services. 

 

The Ghana Revenue authority recognizes revenue when:

(a)   a sale occurs, and risks and rewards have been transferred and;

(b)   service is performed

1.5.0 Expenditure

1.5.1 Expenditure Recognition

The reported expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance is recognised when incurred. 

Expenditure is a decrease in economic benefit or service potential during the reporting period in the 

form of outflows or consumption of assets; or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in net 

assets, and are recognised on an accrual basis when goods are delivered and services are rendered, 

regardless of the terms of payment.

Expenditure is measured at cost unless otherwise stated.

1.5.2  Compensation of Employees

This refers to wages, salaries, allowances, pensions and other benefits (cash or kind) accruing to the 

employees of government working in the covered entity within and outside the country or on 

pension.

1.5.3  Use of Goods and Services 

These comprise of recurrent expenses incurred as a result of goods received and services rendered 

to public entities.

1.5.4 Interest Expenses

Interest expenses are finance costs incurred on loans acquired on domestic and external debts for 

the period.

1.5.5 Social Benefits

Social benefits are expenses incurred as a result of social interventions carried out to benefit certain 

persons, communities or class of people in the society.

1.5.6 Specialised Expenditure

Specialised expenditure include contributions, professional fees, donations, court expenses, 

scholarships, bursaries, awards and rewards.

1.6.0 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)

.
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1.6.1 Classification of PPE

Property, Plant and Equipment are classified into different categories based on their nature, 

functions, useful lives and valuation methodologies. The classifications include Land, Buildings and 

Structures, Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings, ICT Equipment, Other Machinery and 

Equipment, Preventive Assets and Weapons

Recognition of property, plant and equipment is as follows:

(a) All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. 

Historical cost comprises:

I.  its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after 

deducting trade discounts and rebates

ii.  Any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 

for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

iii. The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site 

on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity incurs either when the item is 

acquired, or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for  purposes 

other than to produce inventories during that period

(b) With regard to property, plant and equipment acquired at nil or nominal cost, including donated 

assets, the fair value at the date of acquisition is deemed to be the cost to acquire equivalent assets.

(c) The cost of an asset acquired through a non-exchange transaction is determined at its fair value 

as at the date of acquisition.

(d) Assets acquired by Exchange of other assets are measured at

(e) Fair value unless;

i. The exchange transaction lacks commercial substance

ii. The fair value of neither the asset received, or the asset given up is reliably measured. If the 

acquired item is not measured at fair value, its cost is measured at the carrying amount of the 

asset given up.

1.6.2  Depreciation of PPE

The Ghana Revenue Authority depreciates its Property, Plant and Equipment over their estimated 

useful lives using the straight-line method up to their residual value, except for land, and assets 

under construction (Work in Progress) which are not subject to depreciation.

Given that not all components of a building have the same useful lives or the same maintenance, 

upgrade or replacement schedules, significant components of owned buildings are depreciated 

using the component approach.

Full year depreciation is charged in the year that the asset is acquired, the entity gains control over 

the asset, and put in use for its intended purpose. Depreciation is not charged in the year of 

retirement or disposal. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment classes are as 

follows:
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1.6.3 Disposal of PPE

Disposal gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is 

included in the Statement of Financial Performance when the item is derecognised; such a gain or 

loss is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 

amount of the item.

1.7.0 Inventories 

1.7.1.1 Assets are considered as inventories when they are;

i   In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production  process.

ii  In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed or distributed in the rendering of 

service.

iii Held for sale or distribution in the ordinary course of operations.

iv In the process of production for sale or distribution.

1.7.1.2 Ghana Revenue Authority inventories includes; value books, consumables, printed 

materials, stationery and vehicles accessories/spare parts.

Inventory balances are recognised as current assets in the Statement of Financial Position.

1.7.2.0 Inventory Valuation

1.7.2.1  The inventory valuation method of Ghana Revenue Authority is the Weighted Average Cost 

(WAC) method. The cost of inventory in stock is determined using the average price cost basis. The 

cost of inventories includes the cost of purchase, plus other costs incurred in bringing the items to 

the destination and condition for use. Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions 

(i.e., donated goods) are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Inventories held for sale 

are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Net realizable value is the net amount that is expected to be realized from the sale of 
inventories in the ordinary course of operations.

1.7.2.2  Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal charge or for consumption in the 

production of goods or services are valued at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. 

Current replacement cost is the estimated cost that would be incurred to acquire the asset.

1.7.2.3  The carrying amounts of inventories are expensed when inventories are sold, exchanged, 

distributed externally or consumed by the respective covered entity.

1.7.2.4  Inventories are subject to physical verification based on value and risk as assessed by the 

Commissioner General. Valuations of inventories, are the net of write-downs, from cost to current 

replacement cost or net realizable value, which are recognised in the Statement of Financial 

Performance.

1.7.2.5  Ghana Revenue Authority uses periodic inventory count approach where inventory count 

is undertaken on quarterly and annual basis.

1.8.0 Intangible Assets 

1.8.1 Intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment loss. For intangible assets acquired at nil or nominal cost, including donated assets, 

the fair value at the date of acquisition is deemed to be the cost to acquire the assets.



1.8.2  Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of costs incurred to acquire 

and bring into use the specific software. Development costs that are directly associated with the 

development of software for use by the Ghana Revenue Authority are capitalized as an intangible 

asset. Directly associated costs include software development employee costs, costs for 

consultants and other applicable overhead costs. Intangible assets with finite   useful lives are 

amortized on a straight-line method and amortization charged in the year acquisition or in the year 

when they become operational. The useful life of intangible assets has been estimated as shown 

below.
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Intangible Asset Type Intangible Useful Life

Software 10years

1.8.2  Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of costs incurred to acquire 

and bring into use the specific software. Development costs that are directly associated with the 

development of software for use by the Ghana Revenue Authority are capitalized as an intangible 

asset. Directly associated costs include software development employee costs, costs for 

consultants and other applicable overhead costs. Intangible assets with finite   useful lives are 

amortized on a straight-line method and amortization charged in the year acquisition or in the year 

when they become operational. The useful life of intangible assets has been estimated as shown 

below.

1.8.3 Annual impairment reviews of intangible assets are conducted where assets are under 

development or have an indefinite useful life. Other intangible assets are subject to impairment 

review only when indicators of impairment are identified.

1.9.0  Cash Flow Statement

1.9.1 Cash and Cash Equivalent – Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash at 

bank, short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amount of 

cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.9.2 Presentation

Ghana Revenue Authority uses the indirect method to report cash flows from operating activities, 

whereby surplus or deficit is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, any 

deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of revenue or 

expense associated with investing or financing cash flows. Cash flows from Investing and Financing 

activities are reported separately for major classes of gross receipts and gross payments that takes 

place during the period, however, Ghana Revenue Authority elects to present its Investing and 

Financing Activities on a net basis.

1.9.3 Disclosure

Ghana Revenue Authority discloses, together with a commentary by management in the notes to 

the financial statements, the amount of significant cash and cash equivalent balances held that are 

not available for use by the Revenue Authority entity.



1.10.1 The classification of financial assets depends primarily on the purpose for which the 

financial assets are acquired. The Ghana Revenue Authority classifies its financial assets in one of  

the categories shown below; at initial recognition and re-evaluates the classification at each  

reporting date.
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1.10.0 Financial assets classification

Loans and Receivables Cash  and  cash  equivalents, Loans, 
Advances and Receivables

Classification Financial Assets

1.10.2 All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. The Ghana Revenue Authority initially 

recognizes financial assets classified as loans and receivables on the date on which they originated. 

1.10.3 Financial assets with maturities in excess of 12 months at the reporting date are 

categorized as non-current assets in the financial statements. Assets denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Ghana Cedis at the Bank of Ghana rates of exchange prevailing at the 

reporting date, with net gains or losses recognized in surplus or deficit in the statement of financial 

performance.

1.10.4 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are initially recorded at fair value and are 

subsequently reported at amortized cost calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

Interest revenue is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method 

on the respective financial asset.

1.10.5 Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 

objective evidence of impairment. Evidence of impairment includes default or delinquency of the 

counter party or permanent reduction in the value of the asset. Impairment losses are recognized in 

the statement of financial performance in the year in which they arise.

1.10.6 Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or 

have been transferred, and the economic entity has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 

the financial asset. Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the 

statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.

1.11.0  Financial liabilities classification

1.11.1  Financial liabilities are classified into short term (less than one year), medium term (more 

than one year but less or equal to four years) and long term (more than four years) according to the 

date of maturity or repayment under current and non-current liabilities.



1.11.2  They include accounts payable, trust monies, domestic loans and external loans to the 

Revenue Authority. Financial liabilities classified as domestic loans and external loans are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Financial liabilities are 

recognized at their nominal value.

1.11.3 Financial liabilities with a duration of less than 12 months are recognized under current 

liabilities and those with more than 12 months' duration are recognized under non-current 

liabilities.

1.11.4 The Ghana Revenue Authority re-evaluates the classification of financial liabilities at each 

reporting date and derecognizes financial liabilities when its contractual obligations are 

discharged, waived, cancelled or expired.

1.11.5 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities arise from the purchase of goods and services that 

have been received but not paid for at the reporting date. Payables are recognized and 

subsequently measured at their nominal value because they are generally due within 12 months.

1.12.0  Advance receipts and other liabilities

1.12.1 Advance receipts and other liabilities consist of payments received in advance relating to 

exchange transactions, liabilities for conditional funding arrangements and other deferred 

revenue.

1.13.0 Leases

1.13.1 The Ghana Revenue Authority as “lessee”

1.13.2 Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Ghana Revenue Authority has 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases 

are capitalized at the start of the lease at the lower of fair value or the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.

The rental obligation, net of finance charges, is reported as a liability in the statement of financial 

position. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated in accordance with property, plant 

and equipment policies. The interest element of the lease payment is charged to the statement of 

financial performance as an expense over the lease term on the basis of the effective interest rate 

method.

1.13.3 Leases where all of the risks and rewards of ownership are not substantially transferred to                          

the Ghana Revenue Authority are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating 

leases are charged to the statement of financial performance as an expense on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease.

1.14.0 Commitments

Commitments are future expenses to be incurred by the Ghana Revenue Authority with respect to 

open contracts that the Ghana Revenue Authority has minimal, if any, discretion to avoid in the 

ordinary course of operations. Commitments include capital commitments (the amount of 

contracts for capital expenses that are not paid or accrued by the reporting date) contracts for the 

supply of goods and services that are not delivered at the end of the reporting period, non-

cancellable minimum lease payments and other non-cancellable commitments
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1.15.0 Provisions and contingent liabilities

1.15.1 Provisions are recognized as liabilities when the Revenue Authority has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle that obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. The 

amount of the provision is the best estimate of the expenses required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date. The estimate is discounted where the effect of the time value of 

money is material. Contingent liabilities are disclosed for pending claims when the probability of 

outcome cannot be determined and the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated. As at 31 

December 2023, there were no material provisions recognized or contingent liabilities to disclose.

1.15.2 Contingent liabilities

1.15.3 Any possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Revenue Authority are disclosed as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are 

also disclosed where present obligations that arise from past events cannot be recognized because 

it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 

will be required to settle the obligations, or the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably 

measured.

1.15.4 Provisions and contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential has become more or less 

probable. If it becomes more probable that such an outflow will be required, a provision is 

recognized in the financial statements of the year in which the change of probability occurs. 

Similarly, where it becomes less probable that such an outflow will be required, a contingent liability 

is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

1.15.5 Contingent assets

1.15.5.1 Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events and whose existence will 

be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the effective control of the Revenue Authority. Contingent assets are disclosed in the 

notes when it is more likely than not that economic benefits will flow to the Revenue Authority.

1.16.0 Events after the reporting date

1.16.1 There have been no material events, favourable or unfavourable, that occurred between the 

date of the financial statements and the date when the financial statements were authorized for 

issue that would have had a material impact on these statements.

1.16.2 Materiality and use of judgment and estimation

1.16.3 Materiality is central to the preparation and presentation of the financial                                            

statements and its materiality framework provides a systematic method in guiding accounting 

decisions relating to presentation, disclosure, aggregation, offsetting and retrospective versus 

prospective application of changes in accounting policies. In general, an item is considered material 

if its omission or its aggregation would have an impact on  the conclusions or decisions of the users 

of the financial statements.
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1.16.4. Preparing financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles 

1.16.5 Requires the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions in the selection and application 

of accounting policies and in the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses.

1.16.6 Accounting estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and 

revisions to estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future 

year affected. Significant estimates and assumptions that may result in material adjustments in 

future years include: actuarial measurement of employee benefits; selection of useful lives and the 

depreciation/amortization methods for property, plant and equipment/intangible assets; 

impairment of assets; classification of financial instruments; valuation of inventory; inflation and 

discount rates used in the calculation of the present value of provisions; and classification of 

contingent assets/liabilities.

1.17.0 Prior Period Errors 

1.17.1 Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the financial statement for one 

or more prior periods arising from a failure to use or misuse of, faithfully representative information 

that:

(a) was available when the financial statements for those periods were authorized for issue; 
and

 (b) could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and considered in the preparation 
and presentation of those financial statements.

1.17.2 All material prior period errors and effects of change in accounting policies are corrected 

retrospectively after their discovery in the most recent set of financial statements authorized for 

issue, by;

(a) Restating comparative prior period amounts, or

(b) If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, by restating the opening 
statement of financial position.

1.17.2.1  A prior period error is corrected by retrospective restatement, except to the extent that it 

is impracticable to determine either the period specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error.

1.17.2.2 When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of an error on 

comparative information for one or more prior periods presented, it is restated by correcting the 

opening balances of assets, liabilities, and net assets/equity for the earliest period for which 

retrospective restatement is practicable (which may be the current period).

1.17.2.3  When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the 

current period, of an error on all prior periods, the comparative information to correct the error 

prospectively from the earliest date practicable is restated.

1.17.2.4  In disclosing the prior period, the Ghana Revenue Authority presents the following;

       (a) The nature of the prior period error;

       (b) For each period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the 
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       correction for each financial statement line item affected;
    (c) The amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period presented;

       (d) If retrospective treatment is impracticable for a particular prior period, the    
circumstance that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how and 
from when the error has been corrected.

1.17.2.5 Financial statements of subsequent periods need not reflect these disclosure 

requirements.

1.17.2.6 Prior Year Adjustments

During 2024, the Authority identified errors mainly in un-accrued expenditure, misclassification 

of capital expenditure, non-recognition of revenue and depreciation calculation. As a result, the 

financial statements for 2023 have been restated to reflect these corrections.

The impact of the adjustments is as follows:
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The Authority has therefore restated the prior year financial statements to reflect these adjustments. The restated financial statements provide a 

more accurate representation of the company's financial position and performance.
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1.18.0 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements

1.18.1 The original budget amounts are the 2023 portions of the appropriations approved by the 

Parliament of Ghana for the fiscal year January 1st – December 31st 2023. Differences between 

original and final budget amounts are due to revised appropriations as approved by the Parliament 

of Ghana and increased authorized spending for specific programme activities that the Minister of 

Finance has been authorized by the Parliament of Ghana and the Public Financial Management Act 

(2016) 921 and its accompanying regulations to accept and utilize.

1.18.2 The budget of Ghana Revenue Authority is prepared on Cash Basis, whilst the financial 

statements are prepared on accrual accounting basis. The revenue Authority has therefore elected 

to present its comparison of budget amount as a separate additional financial statement showing 

the following:

(a)  Original Budget Amount

(b)  Supplementary Budget Amount

(c) Budget Reallocation Amount

(d)  Final Budget amount

(e)  Actual Amount

(f)  Variance Amount (With explanatory notes to material differences)

1.19.0 Employee benefits

1.19.1 The Authority operates a defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. The 

defined benefit plan defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 

retirement, dependent on grade and years of service. 

1.19.2 The defined contribution scheme is funded through payments to trustee-administered 

funds on a monthly basis. The Authority pays contributions to the scheme.

1.19.3 The Authority's contributions to these pension schemes are charged to the income 

statement in the year in which they fall due.

1.20.0 Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 

Costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying 

asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset.

Funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a particular asset, the borrowing costs 

that directly relate to that qualifying asset can be readily identified and capitalized as part of the 

cost of the qualifying asset.



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 105



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 106



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 107



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 108



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 109



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 110



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 111



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 112



PAGE 113

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 114

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 115

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 116



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 117



2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PAGE 118



PAGE 119

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 120

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 121

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 122

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 123

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



PAGE 124

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Head Office Location:

Off Starlets’  91 Road, near Accra

Sports Stadium

P. O Box 2202, Accra

Digital Address: GA-144-3422

Toll Free: 0800 900 110

WhatsApp: 0200 631 664 / 0552 990 000

E-mail: info@gra.gov.gh

Website: www.gra.gov.gh
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